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Welcome to our Annual Report for 2007. 
An institution established in 1968 by a Royal 
Charter, multi-owned and multi-funded by 12 
Pacific Island countries, is now a distinguished 
and unique university in the Pacific region 
known for its diversity, inclusiveness and 
striving for world-class excellence. In the past 
year, the University has faced many challenges 
preparing for a major quality audit in 2008, 
managing a critical financial situation as best 
as we can, continuing to undertake quality 
research recognised by international awards, 
and continuing to attract quality staff from 
all over the world and quality students from 
throughout the Pacific region. These say much 
about this regional university. 

I believe USP has a winning combination 
– a quality green university and campuses 
offering unique student learning experiences 
in a unique multi-cultural environment in 12 
different countries. In our academic work, we 
are focused on producing graduates who will 
be good leaders, able to communicate well, 
respect for our different cultures and traditions 
and have the ability to think independently 
and critically. We have to continue to build on 
these qualities.

In the accounts of activities and achievements 
as guided by the University Council and 
its Committees, this report highlights a set 
of values and ambitions that, in my view, 
define the character of the USP: the pursuit 
of excellence in all we do; commitment to 
teaching and learning, research and service; 
being the university of first choice for many 
of our regional students; responding to the 
varied needs of our 12 member countries; 
equity and diversity, regardless of background; 
commitment to education for environment 
and sustainable development, and an active 
engagement with communities in our Pacific 
and beyond as evident in recent years. 
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As we approach our 40th anniversary in 
2008, we are mindful and fully aware of the 
economic and political challenges facing our 
countries and the need for trained and skilled 
people. While we can boast of the over 35,000 
USP alumni all over the region and beyond, we 
are doubly proud of all those serving in senior 
and key positions in governments, the private 
and non-government sectors. Indeed some 
of our distinguished graduates are leaders 
of their governments as Prime Ministers or 
Presidents. 

In 2007, we celebrated the President of 
Kiribati’s installation, Hon. Anote Tong as 
USP’s 14th Chancellor. We also celebrated 
our Honorary Doctorate recipient 2007, Dr 
Lagi Kavaliku of Tonga who received the 
distinguished award of the USP for his service 
to education in the Pacific region, Tonga and 
internationally for over 40 years.  

We also bid farewell to our first Pro Chancellor 
Masiofo La’ulu Fetauimalemau Mata’afa, 
educator, tireless community worker, politician, 
and diplomat, who died on 19 November, 
2007 and buried in Samoa.

As you read this report note carefully what has 
been accomplished. You will recognise that 
many of the good and innovative work have 
been made possible and successful not only 
through available resources, but significantly 
through commitment, hard work and a love 
for the USP by our staff and students, with 
support from our Council. Read on and get a 
glimpse of life at USP over the past year.

Acting Vice-Chancellor  
Dr Esther Batiri Williams

USP is a unique regional university 
striving for world-class excellence using 

all our talents, resources and Pacific 
indigenous knowledge to the full. 
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Deputy Vice Chancellor  
Dr Esther Batiri Williams
BA MA Well., PGDipLib Canberra, PhD Qld, 

ALLIA (Acting Vice-Chancellor)

Dr Esther Williams is the Deputy Vice 

Chancellor of the University of the South 

Pacific (USP), Suva, Fiji Islands. She has 

served in various capacities including Pro Vice 

Chancellor, University Librarian and Director 

of Planning and Development at the USP and 

is currently the chair of a number of  University 

Committees. She is on the PANAsia ICT 

Research and Development Committee, Board 

of International Oceans Institute, has served 

on International Federation Library Association 

sub committees, and a number of international 

professional organisations. She is currently 

on the Board of the Reserve Bank of Fiji, and 

was a Commissioner for the Fiji Commerce 

Commission and Fiji Audio Visual Commission 

until recently. 

Dr Williams obtained her BA and MA 

from Victoria University, Wellington, New 

Zealand and her Ph.D in Government from 

The University of Queensland, St Lucia, 

Australia. Her research interests are in 

ICT, gender, national political elections and 

telecommunications policy. Dr Williams 

published two books and numerous articles 

in the area of information, communication, 

libraries, gender and elections. Dr Williams 

also represented Fiji in squash in three South 

Pacific Games.     
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Pro Vice- Chancellor (Academic)
Dr Eci Nabalarua
BA S.Pac., MA Reading, PhD ANU

In 2006, Fijian academic Dr Eci Nabalarua 

was appointed to the office of Pro Vice-

Chancellor Academic at the University of the 

South Pacific. Her primary responsibility in 

this portfolio is having strategic oversight on 

academic planning and development for the 

university. She has also been recently charged 

with the responsibility of leading the university 

through its first ever external quality audit 

scheduled for February 2008.  

From 2001-2005, she held the position of 

Senior Lecturer in Development Studies in the 

School of Mäori and Pacific Development at 

the University of Waikato, and soon became 

the program director up to her departure. 

In addition to her work at the university, Dr 

Nabalarua keeps a visibly active profile in 

gender and peace advocacy, community 

development, training and capacity-building, 

and aspects of governance and sustainability, 

with a particular focus on grassroots 

communities.  

She went to New Zealand in 2001 after a 20 

year teaching stint at the University of the 

South Pacific in Suva, Fiji and has since 2006 

returned to serve in the Pacific through USP, 

to continue her work with Pacific peoples and 

communities.  

Registrar
Mr Walter Fraser
BA S.Pac., PGDComm Auck.

Mr Walter Fraser studied at USP, the 

University of Hawaii and the University of 

Auckland.

He began his career in tertiary management 

at USP in 1984 where he worked at the 

Staffing Office and Academic Office before 

working as an Assistant Registrar at the USP 

Alafua Campus from 1985 until 1989. From 

1991 Mr Fraser worked at the University of 

Auckland, where in the three years prior to 

his appointment as Registrar at USP he was 

Registrar for the Faculty of Arts, which at the 

time was one of the largest faculties of its kind 

in Australasia.
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VISITOR OF THE UNIVERSITY

Justice Paul De Jersey LLB, Hon LLD Qld.

OFFICERS OF THE UNIVERSITY

Chancellor

President of Kiribati, HE Anote Tong (Term ends 30 June 2008)

Pro Chancellor

Hon Fiame Naomi Mata’afa (Term ends 30 June 2009)

Vice-Chancellor

vacant

Deputy Vice-Chancellor

Esther Williams, BA MA Well., PGDipLib Canberra, PhD Qld., ALLIA

(Acting Vice-Chancellor)

Registrar

Walter Fraser, BA S.Pac., PGDComm Auck.
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ROLE OF THE COUNCIL

The University is multi-owned and multi-

funded by 12 governments. The powers, 

functions and duties of the Council are set 

out in the Royal Charter and Statutes of the 

University of 1970. The principal recurring 

functions of the Council are to review, make 

necessary changes to the Royal Charter for 

the institution, to ensure that the institution 

is managed in accordance with its Royal 

Charter and its Statutes, and to determine 

the policies of the institution in relation to the 

implementation of its Royal Charter, and the 

management of its affairs and finances. The 

Council also adopts an annual report and 

financial statements and approved academic 

programmes and courses, staffing levels and 

sets tuition fees.

The day-to-day management of the University 

is the responsibility of the Vice-Chancellor. 

Further information is held at:

www.usp.ac.fj

Committees of the Council
The Council has established specific 

committees to consider issues under approved 

Terms of Reference. 

In 2007 these committees were:
Audit Committee

Disciplinary Appeals Committee

Executive Committee of Council

Finance and Investments Committee

Governance Task Force 

Honorary Degrees and Awards Committee

Vice-Chancellor’s and Deputy Vice-

Chancellor’s Performance Review Committee

Council Members 
(as of 2007)

EX OFFICIO MEMBERS   

Pro Chancellor and Chair of Council, Hon 

Fiame Naomi Mata’afa 

Vice-Chancellor - vacant

Deputy Vice-Chancellor, Dr Esther Williams 

(Acting Vice-Chancellor)

Pro Vice-Chancellor (Regional), Professor John 

Lynch 

Pro Vice-Chancellor (Academic), Dr Eci 

Nabalarua

Pro Vice-Chancellor (Research & Graduate 

Affairs), Dr Ana Taufe’ulungaki

APPOINTED MEMBERS
Appointed by the Government of Australia

Professor Steven Schwartz

Appointed by the Government of the  

Cook Islands

Minister for Education and Prime Minister, Hon 

Jim Marurai

Appointed by the Government of Fiji

Interim Minister for Education, Netani 

Sukanaivalu

Permanent Secretary - Education, Emi 

Rabukawaqa

Permanent Secretary - Finance, Peceli 

Vocea                      

Ikbal Jannif                   

Fay Yee

Appointed by the Government of Kiribati 

Minister for Education, Hon James Taom

  

Appointed by the Government of the  

Marshall Islands

Minister in Assistance to the President, Hon 

Christopher Loeak

Appointed by the Government of Nauru

Minister for Education, Hon Roland Kun

Appointed by the Government of New Zealand

Professor Barrie MacDonald

 

Appointed by the Government of Niue

Minister for Education, Hon Va’ainga Tukuitoga

Appointed by the Government of  

Solomon Islands

Minister for Education, Hon Dr Derek Sikua

Appointed by the Government of Tokelau

Minister for Education, Hon Kuresa Nasau

M
EM

B
ER

S 
O

F 
TH

E 
U

N
IV

ER
SI

TY
 C

O
U

N
C

IL
 



6 T h e  a n n u a l  r e p o r t  o f  t h e  V i c e  C h a n c e l l o r    o f  t h e  U n i v e r s i t y  o f  t h e  S o u t h  P a c i f i c  2 0 0 7

ANNUAL REPORT 2007 | USP

Appointed by the Government of Tonga

Minister for Education, Hon Tevita Hala Palefau

Appointed by the Government of Tuvalu

Minister for Education, Hon Dr Falesa Pitoi

Appointed by the Government of Vanuatu 

Minister for Education, Hon Leinavao Tasso

Appointed by the Government of Samoa

Minister for Education, Hon Toomata Alapati 

Toomata

Chief Executive Officer - Ministry of Finance, 

Hinauri Petana

Appointed by the Forum Secretariat 

Deputy Secretary General, Greg Urwin

Appointed by the Secretariat of the  

Pacific Community 

Director General, Dr Jimmy Rodgers

Appointed by the Privy Council

British High Commissioner to Fiji, 

 H.E. Roger Sykes

Appointed by the Senate

Professor Ian Campbell

Professor Graham Hassall

Professor Patrick Nunn

Professor Konai Helu Thaman

 

Appointed under Statute II(i)(b)(xv) 

Vice-Chancellor, UPNG, Professor Ross Hynes

Dean, Fiji School of Medicine, Professor David 

Brewster

ELECTED MEMBERS

Elected by the Court of Convocation

Dr Ganeshwar Chand 

Nikenike Vurobaravu 

Taito Waradi

Elected by non professorial academic staff 

Dr Morgan Tuimaleali’ifano 

Dr Mahendra Reddy

Elected by the Executive of the  

Students Association 

Laucala Campus (Fiji representative),  

Ruiti Tawanang 

Laucala Campus (regional representative), 

Ilifeleti Tovo 

Emalus Campus, Jefferson Halu    

Alafua Campus, Francis Waelesi

SECRETARY
Registrar, Walter Fraser

OBSERVERS
One Representative from each of the following,

AusAID  

NZAID  

JICA

South Pacific Board for Educational 

Assessment 

South Pacific Tourism Organisation 

South Pacific Regional Environment 

Programme 

Forum Fisheries Agency 

South Pacific Applied Geoscience Commission

IN ATTENDANCE
Acting Dean Faculty of Arts and Law, Dr 

Akanisi Kedrayate

Dean Faculty of Business and Economics, 

Professor Jeffery Born

Dean Faculty of Islands and Oceans, Dr 

Pa’olelei Luteru

Dean Faculty of Science and Technology, 

Professor Derek Gardiner

Director of Finance, Kevin Davis

Director of Planning & Development - vacant

Director of Centre for Educational 

Development and Technology, Helen Lentell

University Librarian, Joan Sin Yee

Director of Human Resources, Agnes 

Kotoisuva

Manager, Council Secretariat, Lily Vesikula

Executive Committee
Hon Fiame N Mata’afa (Chair)

Dr Esther Williams

Ikbal Jannif

Chair of the Fay Yee

Hon Job Tausinga, Minister of Education, 

Solomon Islands

Hon Dr Falesa Pitoi, Minister of Education, 

Tuvalu

Hon Dr Tevita Hala Palefau, Minister of 

Education, Tonga

Nikenike Vurobaravu
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Finance & Investments Committee
Fay Yee (Chair)

Dr Esther Williams

Emi Rabukawaqa

Ms Hinauri Petana

Hon Jim Maurai 

Professor Biman Prasad

Graeme McNally

Dr Mahendra Reddy

Kevin Davis

Once student representative

Audit Committee
Ikbal  Jannif (Chair)

Ioane Naiveli

Susan Kumar

Staff Policy Committee
Dr Esther Williams (Chair)

Hon Fiame N Mata’afa

Dr Eci Nabalarua

Emi Rabukawaqa

Dr Akanisi Kedrayate

Professor Biman Prasad

Dr Pa’olelei Luteru

Professor Derek Gardiner

Dr Anjeela Jokhan

Professor Biman Prasad

Dr Morgan Tumaleali’ifano

Emily Moala

Student Discipline Appeals Committee
Emi Rabukawaqa (Chair) Laucala Campus

Dr Eci Nabalarua (Laucala Campus)

Two members of the Discipline Committee 

who had not participated in the enquiry into 

the complaint.

Student Development Committee and 
Student Development sub–committee
Tewariki Tearo (Chair SDC sub-committee)

Dr Anjeela Jokhan 

Alfred Liligeto 

Louise Vakamocea 

Joyce Heeraman 

Timothy Tuivaga 

Judith Titoko 

Manueli Sagaitu 

Dr Desmond Amosa 

President, USPSA or nominee 

Member of the Student Association nominated 

by USPSA 

Tender Board
Vice-Chancellor (Chair)

Deputy Vice-Chancellor

A Dean of Faculty

One person appointed by Council

Appointments Committee  
(1)  Academic Appointments
 (a)  Professorial appointment
  Vice-Chancellor (Chair)

  Deputy Vice-Chancellor

  Dean of Faculty in which the appointment 
is to be made

  Dean of another Faculty

  Two professors, with one being from 
another faculty

  One or two non-staff members of Council

(b)  Sub–professorial appointment
  Vice-Chancellor or nominee (Chair)

  Dean of faculty in which the appointment 
is to be made

  Dean of another faculty or nominee

  Head of school or department in which 
the appointment is to be made

(2)  Institute Appointment
 Vice-Chancellor or nominee (Chair)

 Director of the Institute

 Director of another Institute

 Dean of a Faculty

(3)  Appointments to comparable posts
 Vice-Chancellor or nominee (Chair)

 Head of Section in which the appointment 
is to be made

 Two other Heads of Faculties/Sections/
Institutes

 Two non-staff members of Council for an 
appointment at professorial level

Staff Review Committee   
Vice-Chancellor (Chair)
Deputy Vice-Chancellor

Pro Vice-Chancellors

Two members of Council (who are non-USP 
staff, preferably including one from outside Fiji)

Three staff members (elected from the 
academic & comparable staff to serve a two–
year term, one from each of the three major 
campuses)

Deans of Faculties
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The University of the South Pacific (USP) was founded in 1968 to meet the human resource 

development needs of the Pacific region. The University’s mission is to provide its 12 Member 

Countries – Cook Islands, Fiji, Kiribati, Marshall Islands, Nauru, Niue, Samoa, Solomon Islands, 

Tokelau, Tonga, Tuvalu and Vanuatu – with world class graduates who are energetic, enthusiastic 

and committed to contributing to the social, economic and cultural development of their countries. 

At the same time, the University highly values the benefits that “global graduates” bring to the 

region and the unique contributions they make to the international knowledge economy. 

The University continues to deliver tertiary 
and community education in all its member 
countries. A ‘one-stop-shop’ centre 
provides academic support at the Laucala, 
Alafua and Emalus Campuses for all 
students regardless of their mode of study. 

Over 400 courses are now offered through 
distance and flexible learning (DFL), 
representing all USP discipline areas. 
USPNet continues to play a vital role in 
linking all member countries to deliver 
quality education, quality instruction and 
support to our widely distributed member 
country populations. The new Moodle 
learning management system will require 
migration to an upgraded platform. 

For USP, the challenge continues to 
produce graduates who will be good 

leaders grounded in Pacific indigenous 
knowledge and values but who also will 
bring new knowledge to bear for the Pacific; 
critical thinking skills are needed to match 
the unique circumstances of the Pacific 
Island countries; and have the ability to 
communicate well. The vision of USP is to:
• be a Pacific centre of excellence in the 

pursuit of knowledge and wisdom in 
the service of Pacific communities

• enhance Pacific peoples’ capability to 
lead free and worthwhile lives

• provide the foundation for Pacific 
peoples’ to be proud of their heritage 
and take pride in creating their future, 
the heritage for the next generation

• be an active partner in the social, 
economic and political development of 
member countries.
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The importance of quality across the 
University is being incorporated into 
almost every aspect of the University’s 
strategic direction and processes. Given 
USP’s unique physical and geographical 
make up and its associated constraints, 
the assurance of quality is indeed a 
challenge. USP’s quality journey is guided 
by recommendations in the Futures Report: 
Vision for 2020, and the Quality Strategy. 
One of the recommendations and key 
milestones in the Quality Strategy was 
the External Audit of the University by the 
Australian and New Zealand universities 
academic audit agencies.

The quality audit preparations got off the 
ground in November 2006 after a Council 
commissioning in October of the same 
year. In January 2007, the fully fledged 
Quality Office developed a project plan for 
the external quality audit with February 
2008 targeted as the time of the on site 
audit interviews. A Quality Assurance 
Team (QAT) headed by the Pro Vice-
Chancellor (Academic), Dr Eci Nabalarua, 
and consisting of key quality facilitators 
and the four Faculty Associate Deans 
for Teaching and Learning across eight 
strategic areas was set up to guide the 
University through its first ever quality audit. 
High on the agenda of this preparatory 
process was the training and skills building 
component in all the key phases of the audit 
exercise in an attempt to secure widespread 
understanding, buy-in and ownership of the 
quality audit.

Self reviews were conducted across the 
University region for each of the following 
strategic areas in: Governance and 
Management, Teaching and Learning, 
Research, Strategic Support Services, 
Finance and Human Resources, Student 
Support Services, and Community 
Engagement and Partnerships. The data 
and information collected from these 
self reviews formed the basis of USP’s 
Performance Portfolio Report which was 
sent to the external auditors for evaluation in 
November, 2007.

The Academic Audit Team from the 
Australian Universities Quality Agency 
(AUQA) and the New Zealand Universities 
Academic Audit Unit (NZUAAU) will visit 
the University from 11-14 February, 2008 
to carry out USP’s first ever institutional 

The founders of the University showed a farsighted concern for 

quality when they wrote: “In the whole field of higher education 

the highest quality must be ensured in teaching and in student 

achievement”. They believed that “the countries of the South 

Pacific would not be satisfied, and ought not to be satisfied, with 

university degrees which did not command a proper esteem”. 
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academic audit. This will serve as a 
culmination of the 15-month audit process 
of the University of the South Pacific under 
an agreement made in 2006 between the 
University of the South Pacific and AUQA 
and NZUAAU and as recommended by the 
University Council. The objective of such 
a quality audit is to enhance institutional 
performance and to enable the University to 
better achieve its strategic goals outlined in 
the USP Strategic Plan 2006 – 2010. 

The Audit Team will visit the University’s 
Emalus and Alafua Campuses, and 
interview members of the USP Council, 
Senate, senior management, academic and 
comparable staff, researchers, students, 
alumni, stakeholders, staff associations 
and members of the community on key 
strategic aspects of the Performance 
Portfolio Report. While at Laucala Campus, 
the audit panel will hold teleconferences 
with regional campuses in the Cook Islands, 
Kiribati, Marshalls, Solomon Islands and 
Tonga. The audit will focus on university 
wide processes, activities, programmes 
and practices in eight strategic areas of the 
University. 

One area that was highlighted in the audit 
briefing was the fact that the University 
of the South Pacific was indeed a unique 
institution in the world given its regional 
context, being multi-owned, multi-cultural, 
with strategic objectives covering the 
educational and training needs of the 
12 member countries with very different 
priorities, and complex in management and 
operations. But most importantly, the Audit 
team in their visits has been impressed with 
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the level of ‘student happiness’ related to 
studying in a unique regional institution 
like the University of the South Pacific and 
being part of the diversity and multi-cultural 
setting. 

The first ever academic audit is expected 
to be completed in February and a Final 
Report expected in April 2008 and will be 
one of nine key milestones in the Quality 
Strategy, As the University awaits and 
prepares for the final processes of the audit, 
it will ensure the regionalisation of quality 
is mainstreamed in its work as this is a key 
aspect of moving quality forward as we 
dismantle barriers of access, isolation and 
equity through educational technologies 
and learning systems which strive to 
promote the USP as a leader of quality 
across the region both in terms of tertiary 
education and excellence.

HIGHLIGHTS AND ACTIVITIES 
 IN 2007 

• The Department of Tourism and 
Hospitality was audited by the United 
Nations World Tourism Organisation 
and a “full certification of the 
department was awarded”. This was 
a major achievement and highlights 
the high quality of work undertaken by 
one of Faculty of Islands and Oceans’s 
academic units. The Faculty also 
participated fully in the preparatory 
work for the academic audit of the 
University.

• The USP Marshall Islands Campus 
engaged in an audit of its academic 
and administrative quality as part of 
the University-Wide Quality Audit 
process. Based on this, a new Four-
Year Campus Plan was developed to 
provide the key goals and strategic 
direction for its activities 2008 – 2011. 

• A number of initiatives were introduced 
in 2007 to address quality issues 
across the Faculty of Science and 
Technology. The Faculty’s Peer 
Observation of Teaching policy involves 
all staff in two observation sessions 
per year with the purpose of improving 
teaching and sharing best practice; 
reports from the exercise are fed into 
the Faculty appraisal process. The 
Faculty introduced a staff workload 
model aimed at providing a mechanism 
for equitable and transparent allocation 
of teaching and to provide a valuable 
management tool. 

• Ms Cresantia Koya and Dr Katarina 
Tuinamuana conducted research on 
Plagiarism at USP which later became 
the School of Education’s Policy on 
Plagiarism and Dishonest Practice in 
attempt to curb growing numbers of 
students who engage in such activities 
in education courses. 

• Internal review of the Faculty of Islands 
and Oceans courses and programmes 
to ensure quality and high standards 
is an ongoing process. This exercise 
resulted in a number of programmes 
being streamlined and the introduction 
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of a number of new courses. 
Student evaluation of staff teaching 
performance is an integral and 
central part of the process of quality 
assurance within the Faculty. Peer 
review also provides another avenue 
for monitoring quality in teaching and 
the Faculty’s Teaching and Learning 
Plan is the framework upon which to 
critically evaluate the Faculty’s success 
in achieving quality in its activities.

• The University’s Labasa Campus in 
Fiji, in its contribution to quality, put in 
place mechanisms and guidelines in all 
areas of service. The Campus Director 
and campus lecturer organised various 
sessions for staff on Quality Control 

Cycle with the purpose of improving 
communication and coordination of 
information on various critical areas 
operation. The Campus also adopted 
a flexi-time approach to maintain the 
effectiveness of services provided. 

• As part of the Faculty of Islands and 
Oceans commitment to quality, all 
new courses will be taken through 
the Faculty’s Teaching and Learning 
Committee and subsequently to the 
other relevant USP committees for 
quality assurance purposes. 

• The Division of English for Academic 
Purposes under the School of 
Language, Arts and Media, has 

contributed concretely to the 
improvement in the quality of the 
course and the quality of its outcomes. 
LL114’s (English for Academic 
Purposes) pass rate in 2007 improved 
in both semesters. 

• Between May and July, the USP 
Emalus Campus undertook a self-
review as part of University-wide 
Quality Audit preparations and the 
submission of the USP Performance 
Portfolio. A review of the Emalus 
Campus was carried out in July 
which specifically focused on finance, 
students, human resources, community 
services, property and facilities and 
general administration. 

• In 2007, each School in the Faculty of 
Business and Economics reviewed its 
entire curriculum. 
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Students from USP member countries 
can access courses through different 
media including print, video, audio and 
the Internet. Distance offerings also utilise 
Centre-based flexi-schools (intensively 
face-to-face during the semester breaks), 
video broadcast tutorials, audio conference 
tutorials, audio graphic tutorials, local 
tutorials and visits by lecturers and tutors. 

USP is now using Moodle as its learning 
management system and is migrating 
courses from WebCT and EASOL/EDISON 
to Moodle. The pedagogy of the DFL/e-
learning emphasises learning outcomes; this 
will impact course planning, development 
and delivery for which capacity building is 
being implemented. This project is being 
delivered with support from AusAID. 

HIGHLIGHTS AND ACTIVITIES 
 IN 2007 

• In 2007, the DFL through CEDT 
migrated 70 courses from WebCT 
and EASOL/EDISON to Moodle. 
CEDT staff support was provided to 
Emalus Campus to assist with course 
conversion to Moodle.

• The Faculty of Business and 
Economics taught one quarter of its 
undergraduate EFTS (equivalent full-
time students) through DFL offerings. 
The School of Economics had the 
highest number of undergraduate DFL 
offerings in 2007. 

• The School of Computing, Information 
and Mathematical Sciences developed 
all its 100-level Mathematics and 
statistics courses into the print-mode 
distance learning materials. Also 
converting 75% of its computing and 
information science courses to online 
materials managed via Moodle. The 
School was also actively involved 
in flexi-schools, which were held in 
Vanuatu, Kiribati, Tonga, Marshall 
Islands, Lautoka and Nadi, reflecting 
the School’s on-going commitment to 
regional students.

• The Faculty of Islands and Oceans 
continued to offer a significant number 
of its courses through the DFL mode; 
in 2007, EFTS (equivalent full-time 
students) from the distance learning 
mode increased by 15% compared to 
2006. 

Teaching and Learning: 
Distance and Flexible Learning 
and Teaching

Quality teaching and learning are at the heart of USP’s mission and the University is committed 

to ensuring that academic programmes and learning environments meet or exceed international 

standards. This is quite a challenge with such a wide distribution of students, studying courses 

that are delivered through a variety to different modes – from face-to-face to online to print-based 

– at campuses supported by a varying degree of national infrastructure. Furthermore, each of all 

12 Member Countries have different human development needs and the University will do its best 

to offer a range of relevant courses and programmes that address those needs. The University 

is committed to continuously improving all modes of instruction at all levels and improving the 

effective use of USPNet and other technologies to enhance instructional design and delivery of 

courses (Goal 1.1 USP Strategic Plan 2006-2010).
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• In Vanuatu, there was 100% tutorial 
support for all DFL courses and the 
‘one tutor appointed per course’ 
policy was achieved in 2007 with 
increased tutorial support for all 
DFL courses in English language, 
mathematics, sciences, economics, 
accounting/banking and management. 
The development of facilities for 
DFL students at Emalus Campus in 
Vanuatu has resulted in the upgrade 
of the Santo Centre computer lab 
and creation of new IT Lab at the 
Penama Centre. The Campus also had 
successful negotiations with Malampa 
Provincial Government Council for the 
establishment of the USP Malampa 
Centre in Norsup, Malekula. 

• In 2007 the Marshall Islands Campus 
had 375 registrations including those 
registered in the Master of Education 
programme by distance.  In 2007, 85 
students studied via the face-to-face 
mode, while 285 enrolled in print or 
online courses.  Following an audit 
by accounting firm, KPMG in 2006, 
the Campus Campus implemented all 
follow-up actions proposed, including 
the installation of BookNet by USP 
Bookshop in December 2007. This has 
facilitated improved record keeping of 
course materials and texts. 

• In October, the Savusavu Centre under 
the Labasa Campus was connected 
to USP video conference and satellite 
facilities. This was part of the Campus’s 

efforts to bridge the ‘tyranny of 
distance’ between the Campus and the 
remote communities in Northern Fiji.

• A partnership between the USP 
Labasa Campus and School of 
Education has eventuated in the 
designing and offering of an education 
course, Policy Studies in Education 
(ED453) in its hybrid mode to 
postgraduate students in the Northern 
Division of Fiji. 

• The Division of History under the 
School of Social Sciences expanded 
its DFL offerings in 2007, including 
Heritage Management and 
Conservation, which was taught from 
Melbourne by Dr Anita Smith. Dr 
Morgan Tuimaleali’ifano offered HY101 
Pacific History 1 (Prehistory) as a DFL 
course for the first time in 2007. 

• The Psychology Division under the 
School of Social Sciences contracted 
a staff member of the Fiji College 
of Advanced Education in the first 
semester to revise and rewrite the 
DFL version of PS102 Developmental 
Psychology to reflect a more Pacific 
orientation. 
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Under the Office of Research and Graduate 
Affairs (ORGA) and with the leadership 
of the Pro Vice-Chancellor Research (Dr 
Ana Taufaeunlungaki) and the Director 
of ORGA Professor Patrick Nunn, the 
University moved to strengthen research 
generally at USP and also through its 
regional campuses. It began a survey to 
assess research supervision needs at USP 
and targeted research through the regional 
campuses. 

In 2007, USP continued to provide excellent 
examples of research that was relevant and 
directly beneficial to Pacific communities 
and peoples particularly in the areas of 
environmental protection work (such as the 
Integrated Coastal Management Project and 
the Locally Managed Marine Area Project), 
health research (such as the Total Diet 
Study and the Food Standard Formulation 
Project), Pacific epistemological research, as 
well as a major Sustainable Livelihood and 
Education Project. The quality of teaching 
is improved when it draws on issues that 
have a direct relevance to the everyday lives 
of the students and the communities from 
which they come.

HIGHLIGHTS AND ACTIVITIES 
 IN 2007 

• IAS continued studies in taxonomy 
to find species new to science. This 
included several new freshwater fish 
species in the Solomon Islands, soft 
corals in Fiji, new plants in the Lau 
group of Fiji and a number of families 
of organisms from Santo in Vanuatu. 
About 400 freshwater specimens have 
been collected from Tetepare Island 
in the Solomon Islands and are being 
identified at IAS.  

• The Food Unit under IAS completed 
a three-year Fiji Total Diet Study. The 
study involved determining the average 
weekly intake of pesticides, heavy 
metals and iron in Fiji foods. This was 
achieved by determining levels in major 
food groups and the weekly intake 
of these food groups. Pesticide levels 
were negligible and most heavy metals 
much below ‘safe’ levels. 

• The main commercial activities of 
the Institute of Applied Sciences are 
conducted by its Analytical Laboratory 
and through environmental impact 
assessments and consultancies 
undertaken by the Environment and 
Herbarium Units. In 2007, activities 
totalled more than F$1,600,000.  

• In 2007, five regional campuses 
were awarded funding for approved 
research projects in an effort to boost 
research activities in the region. These 
activities was facilitated by AusAID 
and include the Lautoka Campus 
(Research into Trends and Challenges 
in Education: Assessing the Preferred 
Learning Styles of Primary Learners); 
the Cook Islands Campus (Cook 
Islands Image Database); Tonga 
Campus (survey and publication 
on research ‘Discrimination against 
women in society leads them to 
predominate amongst the poorest in 
Tonga’); Emalus Campus in Vanuatu 
(Research to Evaluate Factors that 

Research and Innovation

While teaching and learning have been the traditional focus of USP, research is a key function of 

most universities and one where USP has the potential for world class distinction, particularly in 

the areas of Pacific Studies as well as sustainable development issues related to island nations. 

Many contemporary world issues such as environmental science, sustainable energy, biodiversity, 

governance, climate change, and resource management are of acute importance to our member 

countries and USP has the capacity to make major contributions in these areas (Goal 2.1 USP 

Strategic Plan 2006-2010). 
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affect Student Academic Performances 
at the Vanuatu DFL Centre) and the 
Centre for Educational Development 
and Technology at Laucala Campus 
(Web-based Learning at USP: Models 
and Modes). The regional projects 
programme will continue in 2008.

• In October, Dr Clare Morrison and 
Ms Nunia Thomas conducted a frog 
survey of highland areas of selected 
islands in the Solomon Islands 
(Kolobagara, Makira, Tetepare). This 
work completed the survey of the 
major islands of the Solomon Islands 
that began in 2005. The major purpose 
of this survey was to collect ecological 
data and photograph Solomon Island 
frog species for a field guide to the 
frogs of the Solomon Islands.  

• Mr Frank Thomas of the Pacific Studies 
Programme was awarded a grant by 
Faculty of Arts and Law to carry out 
the first phase of a project on cultural 
resource management and historical 
ecology in Kiribati.

• Mr Jeremy Dorovolomo of the 
School of Education completed a 
University-funded research project 
on ‘Rural education matters: Access 
to opportunities to learn in physical 
education and school sports in 
rural Solomon Islands primary 
and secondary schools’, worth 
F$5,894.50. He also collaborated with 
Dr Phil Doecke, lecturer at the RMIT 
University, Australia, on a research 
project entitled: ‘Physical education 

in the South Pacific Island Nations: 
A Qualitative Overview of Curriculum 
Development, Teaching and Learning’.

• Mr Robert Early of the Pacific 
Languages Unit under the School of 
Language, Arts and Media and Ms 
Helen Tamtam of Centre for Excellence 
in Learning and Teaching (CELT) 
carried out the first ever empirical 
survey of Vanuatu’s numeracy and 
literacy rates, with funding from 
AusAID and UNESCO. The survey 
tested around 3500 individual 
subjects in a variety of locations, and 

the results confirmed that these key 
development indicators are at the low 
end (38% and 40% respectively) of 
a large range of estimates that have 
been made previously. These findings 
have highlighted the extent of the 
challenge that remains for Vanuatu and 
Melanesia generally, to improve basic 
education.

• Professor Patrick Nunn led a 15-
person research team in February on 
an intensive excavation of the earliest-
known human settlement in Fiji. The 
team re-excavated the deepest and 
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oldest-known part of the shell midden 
at the Bourewa site in southwestern 
Viti Levu. The excavation also involved 
the recovery of several pieces of Lapita 
pottery, a characteristic of the first 
people to settle in Fiji.

• Professor Patrick Nunn, Ms Roselyn 
Kumar, Mr Melchior Mataki, Mr 
Murari Lal and Professor Kanayathu 
Koshy all contributed to a book titled 
Global Change and Integrated Coastal 
Management: The Asia Pacific Region. 
The book which was published by 
Springer, is a comprehensive scientific 
manuscript dealing with global change 
impacts on coastal management and 
has input from 20 Asia Pacific Network 
funded projects on coastal zones and 
inland waters. 

• Mr Teweiariki Teaero of the School of 
Education conducted major research 
into the Kiribati’s indigenous art of 
composing songs (kainikamaen), 
meanings and backgrounds of 
selected old songs, meanings of 
ancient terms and the biographies of 
some composers. These findings will 
be published in a book Te Mwamira 
Teuana. 

• Dr Manoranjan Mohanty of the 
Development Studies Programme 
under the Pacific Institute of Applied 
Studies in Development and 
Governance (PIAS-DG) led a research 
team for the European Union (EU), 
comprising of Professor Vijay Naidu 
and postgraduate student Tagutu 

Raicebe. The Social Sectors Division 
of the EU-funded on behalf of the Fiji 
Forum of Non-State Actors, a project 
on ‘Non-State Actors (NSA) Mapping 
in Fiji’. The main aim of the study was 
to identify forms of engagement that 
exist between non-state actors and 
the Government of Fiji with regard 
to policy dialogue and development 
processes. The report was submitted 
to the EU.

• In July, Professor James McMaster 
of the Graduate School of Business 
designed and delivered an NZAID-
funded, Cook Islands Policy 
Analysis Training Programme for 
the Government of the Cook Islands 
and the University’s Cook Islands 
Campus. The objective of this course 
is to introduce senior civil servants in 

the Cook Islands to the field of public 
policy analysis and to provide practical 
training in policy analysis techniques. 

• The Faculty of Islands and Oceans 
Faculty identified four main thematic 
clusters for research and seed funding 
to encourage activities in these areas. 
The Faculty allocated just under 
F$150,000 towards the funding of 
research proposals from both staff and 
students as well as for equipment in 
2007. 

• In 2007, the Faculty of Business and 
Economics staff published 52 journal 
articles and six books. 

• PACE-SD through its partnership 
with the Universite de Technologie 
de Troyes (in France) carried out an 
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applied research project with the 
aim to adapt and apply the Design 
for Sustainability (D4S) methodology 
developed by Delft University of 
Technology (the Netherlands) for 
UNEP to the situation in Fiji and in 
the Small Island Developing States 
(SIDS) in the Pacific. A key outcome 
of D4S would be that industries take 
environmental and social concerns as a 
key element in their long-term product 
innovation strategy. 

• The Division of Journalism negotiated 
an agreement with the Auckland 
University of Technology’s Journalism 
Department to jointly produce the 
September 2007 issue of Pacific 
Journalism Review. The themed edition 
deals with ICT and Development issues 
in the Pacific. The project was headed 
by the lead editor, Dr Charu Uppal.

• Dr France Mugler and Mr Mohammed 
Ameer collaborated with postgraduate 
students Yogeen Sharma and Rajendra 
Prasad on the Fiji Hindi dictionary 
project.

• Dr Katty Hassall was co-researcher in 
the World History Survey coordinated 
by Dr James Liu from Victoria 
University of Wellington, which aims to 
provide cultural comparisons of social 
representations of world history. This is 
expected to lead to a joint publication 
in the Journal of Cross Cultural 
Psychology. 

• Dr Katarina Tuinamuana and Ms 
Cresantia F. Koya were members of the 
joint international multi-site research 
project on ‘Teacher Education for the 
Future’ carried out with the support of 
the Pacific Circle Consortium, and led 
by Professor William Greene, Southern 
Oregon University, USA.

• Institute of Education staff began a 
study, commissioned by the Office 
of Research and Graduate Affairs, to 
help strengthen USP’s postgraduate 
capability by establishing a database of 
internal and external supervisors and 
developing a survey for training needs 
in research supervision.

• Mr Tui Rakuita of the School of 
Social Sciences completed a major 
consultancy for the Ecumenical Centre 
for Research, Education and Advocacy 
(ECREA), titled ‘Living by Bread Alone: 
Contemporary Challenges Associated 
with Identity and Belongingness in Fiji’.

• Ms Carmen Voigt-Graf of the School 
of Social Sciences conducted a donor-
mapping exercise for the ILO worth 
US$3000.

• Dr Unaisi Nabobo-Baba began an 
inter-university collaborative Research 
Project: with Narotam Bhindi, 
University of Woolongong, Australia, 
on the topic: ‘Workplace Spirituality’. 
Dr Nabobo-Baba also began a 
collaborative research project with 

Dr Eve Coxon, University of Auckland 
and Dr Seu’ula Johansson Fua (IOE) 
on  Educational Aid Funding in three 
Pacific Countries: Focusing on Sector 
Wide Approaches (SWAP) in Solomon 
Islands, Tonga and Fiji.’ 

• Dr Unaisi Nabobo-Baba undertook 
a consultancy for USP’s Pro 
Vice-Chancellor (Research and 
Postgraduate Affairs) to provide 
a Framework of Research for the 
Fiji Context (part of a wider Pacific 
Framing of Research Consultancy). 
Dr Nabobo-Baba was also consultant 
for the Fiji section of the Institute of 
Education’s Sustainable Livelihood in 
Education Project, which was funded 
by NZAID.  

• A consultancy to deliver the Project 
Design Document for the Pacific 
Commonwealth Governance 
Programme was completed in April 
by the Governance Programme. 
Representatives from the 
Commonwealth Secretariat attended 
the launch of the Programme at the 
Pacific Governance Network meeting 
at Sigatoka, Fiji in December 2007.



22 T h e  a n n u a l  r e p o r t  o f  t h e  V i c e  C h a n c e l l o r    o f  t h e  U n i v e r s i t y  o f  t h e  S o u t h  P a c i f i c  2 0 0 7

ANNUAL REPORT 2007 | USP

Centre for Educational Development 
and Technology (CEDT) 

• 2007 saw a major growth in the 
number and range of course materials 
that were designed, developed and 
supported. The move into developing 
Moodle and more online course 
components has been a major activity 
for DFL. There has been a wider 
use of a range of media in course 
development and this has supported 
CEDT’s approach towards developing 
‘hybrid’ courses –courses which use a 
range of appropriate technologies and 
media. 

• Staff at the Distance and Flexible 
Learning Support Centre (DFLSC) 
were involved in migrating courses 
from systems such as WebCT and 
EaSOL/Edison. WebCT was phased 
out (end of Semester I, 2007) while the 
process of migrating and redesigning 
courses for the School of Law will 
continue in 2008. By Semester II 2007, 
there were 60 active courses running 
in Moodle. These include DFL and 
campus-based courses where Moodle 
is being used as a learning tool and for 
student support.

• A CEDT fellowship was introduced in 
2007 with the first fellow was from the 
School of Law. The fellowship scheme 
was introduced to improve quality in 
learning and teaching by enabling 
academics to have time out from their 
teaching to work on activities that will 
develop quality learning in their faculty 
or school. 

• The Pacific Islands Marine Resources 
Information Systems under the 
University Library carried out a special 
project aimed at improving access 
to Pacific marine literature with 
funds from the Government of China 
(Taiwan).  

• In August, the Oceania Sport 
Information Centre (OSIC) under the 
University Library celebrated its 10th 
anniversary. OSIC Coordinator Mr 
Albert Miller was involved in a number 
of regional workshops, including 
a sports education programme in 
Tonga for 30 teachers; the Oceania 
National Olympic Committee Annual 
General Assembly in Pago Pago, 
American Samoa and the Sports 
and HIV Workshop in Suva, Fiji and 
teaching in the USP Sports Education 
programme at the Faculty of Science 
and Technology. 

• The University Library expanded 
its subscription to the ISI Web of 
Knowledge in January 2007 with 
the inclusion of Science Citation 
Index Expanded (SCIE) and the Arts 
& Humanities Citation Index (AHCI) 
to its existing subscription covering 
Social Science Citation Index (SSCI), 
with assistance from AusAID and 
the Office of the Pro Vice-Chancellor 
(Research) and support from the 
Faculty Deans. Included in the 2007 
subscription are back files for 2001-
2006 SCIE and AHCI. 

Academic Resources

• In partnership with the regional 
campuses, and following discussions 
at the Regional Campus Directions 
Conference, CEDT is project managing 
and participating in the development 
of a new induction programme 
for all DFL students. This project 
– Success@USP – was scoped in 
2007 and development will take place 
in 2008. 

Library 

• The USP Library and UNESCO 
Pacific co-sponsored an advanced 
regional Greenstone workshop from 
25-29 June. Greenstone is an open-
source software for organising digital 
library collections. This was the third 
Greenstone workshop co-sponsored 
by UNESCO Pacific and USP with 
participants from Fiji, Marshalls, Palau, 
and Samoa.

• The University’s Alafua Campus 
Librarian participated in the School 
Library Assistants Training Programme 
that was sponsored by the Samoan 
Ministry of Education, Sports and 
Culture and the Alafua Campus’ 
Continuing and Community Education. 
The programme trained assistants 
to work in school libraries. Sessions 
were on customer service, fiction in 
secondary schools, finding information 
and working with teachers. Funding 
was provided by the PRIDE Project 
based at USP.
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• In line with the move towards the 
provision of online resources, the 
Library’s ‘Links to selected websites 
related to the Pacific’ continued to 
be developed. A total of 158 authors 
completed the ‘Permission for Internet 
Access’ forms for the USP Library 
Digital Theses. Downloading of articles 
from online databases is another 
project that the Library’s Pacific 
Collection carried out in 2007.

• The Digital-Library-in-a-Box Project 
began in November 2005 under 
the Campus Development and 
Improvement Strategy funded by 
NZAID. The aim was to complement 
library holdings and provide a digital 
quick reference for select campus 
libraries. Servers were purchased 
for seven campus libraries: Kiribati, 
Marshalls, Nauru, Niue, Solomons, 
Tokelau, and Tuvalu. The second 

phase was carried out in 2007 with the 
project extended to the Alafua, Emalus 
and Tonga Campuses.

• The University’s Library annual 2007 
Authors’ Tea took place on 16 August. 
It was a successful event, with more 
than 180 items from 82 authors were 
displayed. 

• The USP Emalus Campus Library 
implemented the following initiatives 
in 2007 for students: Reference 
Desk Service (two one hour sessions 
daily) and Legal Research Skills and 
Information Literacy Programme (legal 
research and information literacy series 
of lectures).

Information and Communications 
Technology

• The major undertakings for the 
University’s Information Technology 
Services (ITS) included the 
establishment of a system that would 
log, monitor and control Internet access 
by staff and students using the USP 
Laucala Campus network due to excess 
charges incurred. In March, students 
were given quotas for internet access. 
A GSM gateway was also installed to 
reduce cost of calls to mobile phones by 
USP staff.

• ITS continued to deploy wireless access 
points throughout Laucala Campus and 
the region to improve access to USP 
Laucala Campus network for students 
and staff. In campuses of rising water 
table, wireless access points provided 
a more robust and low maintenance 
option. In areas of difficult terrain 
for cabling, wireless access points 
provided valuable bridges for the 
Local Area Network (LAN). The Cook 
Islands, Alafua and Emalus Campuses 
now have wireless access points.

• ITS also commenced the ground work 
in the migration of Banner from an 
Open VMS Operating System to the 
open source operating system Linux 
and an appropriate hardware platform. 
The development of the DFL Workflow 
Project also began. This system seeks 
to improve efficiency of the course 
development process within USP. 
This will support student teaching 
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and learning processes and will also 
improve the accuracy, quality and 
speed of the USP course development 
process within DFLSC and CEDT.

• ITS was also involved in the 
development of a new Online Course 
Evaluation Survey for students at 
Laucala, Emalus and Alafua Campuses. 
The work involved the development 
of an online survey form on the 
Student Online System (SOLS) with 
an enhanced prompting mechanism 
to improve student response. There 
is also an online tool that allowed for 
a more efficient and robust reporting 
mechanism for schools, allowing for 
quicker feedback on quality of course 
delivery. 

• In 2007, the Cook Islands Campus’s 
computer laboratory provided 31 
functioning workstations available 
exclusively for student use. The 
Campus currently has 40 operational 
networked computers providing 
‘always on’ Internet and email access 
to students and staff. A wireless bridge 
was installed to link the main system 
to the relocated library space. Wireless 
capacity was also installed in the MBA 
room and central foyer. 

• The Governance Programme through 
its new Pacific Governance Portal seeks 
to be a leading resource on governance 
information for the benefit of the people 
and institutions of the Pacific Islands 
region. It will be a portal for information, 
and a vehicle to promote interaction 
between scholars and practitioners in 

governance, in activities held at USP 
campuses and elsewhere, and linking 
these individuals and communities 
together as virtual communities sharing 
an interest in governance issues and 
challenges.

• The Governance Programme also 
established a ‘Digital Pacific@USP’ 
interest group. The group includes 
information technology administrators 
from inside and outside USP, as well as 
faculty members having an interest in 
e-Governance.

• A new computer laboratory and extra 
20 computers were installed at the 
Alafua Campus in Samoa to boost up 
the numbers of computers available 
to students. The new lab will improve 
student/computer ratio therefore 
improving learning opportunities.

• USP’s Labasa Campus and Savusavu 
Centre now have access to video 
facilities with increased speed from 
512 to 1024Kbps that provide lectures, 
videoconferences and tutorials. The 
Campus satellite system provides for 
audio satellite tutorials and meetings. 
In addition, video broadcast courses 
were offered through USPNet and 
Moodle for the first time in Semester 
II, 2007. The Campus also offered the 
Advance in Information Technology 
programme and regular computer 
short courses as part of the Continuing 
Education Programme with modules on 
Internet and email as highly in-demand 
package. 

• Ms Libby Cass of the PRIDE Project 
worked on the development of an 
online version of Directions: Journal of 
Educational Studies. This is a unique 
journal, providing an avenue for the 
publication of essays, research findings, 
book reviews, conference papers and 
critical comments by people involved 
in the educational sphere in the Pacific 
region. The online version will make 
all articles since 1978 available in 
electronic format.  

• The Pacific Institute of Advanced 
Studies in Development and 
Governance (PIAS-DG) in association 
with the Australian National University 
(ANU) and the World Bank’s Global 
Development Learning Network 
embarked on the 2007 Pacific Leaders 
Virtual Forum Series on the topic 
‘Leadership – generational, gender 
and cultural issues’. The aim was for 
participants to gain an understanding 
of how leadership is affected by 
generational, gender and cultural 
issues, and how these may vary from 
one society to another.
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The 2006 Annual report states that 
“the University plays a critical role 
as the conscience of the community 
for all issues of national, regional and 
international concern and importance. 
It must remain detached from political, 
commercial and religious pressure, 
persuasion or preference. Its mandate 
is to encourage and promote freedom 
of thought and expression. As such, the 
University is responsible for encouraging 
and advancing awareness and dialogue 
on important social, economic, political, 
governance and cultural issues through 
a range of formal and informal media 
and activities. In doing so, the University 
encourages and facilitates the sharing 
of opinions, information and discussion 
from all sections of the region’s complex 
communities. The University must protect 

universal values relating to human rights, 
freedom of expression, good governance 
and equality”. These sentiments remain 
valid today. The University cherishes 
academic freedom and recognises that it 
must be exercised responsibly. 

In its Strategic Plan 2006-2010, the 
University commits itself to increasing the 
range and quality of professional activities, 
and to developing productive relationships 
between the University and its communities. 
Engagement includes respecting indigenous 
knowledge systems, bringing new 
knowledge to those communities grounded 
in education, scholarship, and research 
together with a commitment to social 
justice. USP has a pool of expertise with a 
responsibility to foster a reflective dialogue 
on contemporary issues.
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The University remains committed to addressing the diverse human resource 

development needs of its member countries in order to further the economic and 

social development of their societies. As countries revise their national development 

strategies, USP will endeavour to incorporate changing priorities into its academic 

planning. With vast distances between the member countries, the challenge remains 

to increase regular communication and collaboration between USP and member 

country partners (Goal 4.1 USP Strategic Plan 2006-2010).

Regional and 
Community 

Engagement 
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HIGHLIGHTS AND ACTIVITIES 
 IN 2007 

• The Herbarium under IAS continued to 
upgrade its existing collection of nearly 
100,000 vouchers of Pacific plants. A 
total of 210 new vouchers have been 
mounted in association with the Allen 
Herbarium of Landcare, New Zealand. 
A major project for 2007 included a 
month-long expedition to the northern 
Lau group in Fiji, where more than 100 
plants were recorded for the first time. 

• IAS continued to play a leading role 
in assisting communities to manage 
their marine resources using Locally-
Managed Marine Areas. The IAS 
experience has been documented 
in training manuals and used widely. 
A training video for socioeconomic 
monitoring was also filmed in 2007. 
Assistance was provided to the 
Solomon Islands, Vanuatu, Kiribati, 
Tuvalu, Marshall Islands and Samoa to 
set up similar programmes. 

• The USP Marshall Islands Campus 
continued to serve the human 
resource requirements of the country 
and continued to receive direct 
scholarships from the Government of 
Australia and the Asian Development 
Bank (ADB). Campus Director, Dr 
Irene Taafaki was appointed to serve 
as Chair of a Working group to develop 
a pre-semester orientation, now known 
as Success@USP, for regional campus 
students.

• In February, Mr Alfred Liligeto of 
the School of Education initiated the 
formation and establishment of the 
Institute of Marovo Studies which is 
based in Chea Village, Marovo Lagoon, 
Western Province, Solomon Islands. 
The purpose of the Institute is the 
sustainability, protection, development, 
implementation, monitoring and 
awareness of Marovo culture and 
resources. 

• Staff from the School of Law have 
been working on the legal aspects 
of Roimata Domain UNESCO 
World Heritage listing project. The 
Roimata Domain is an evolving cultural 
landscape located in Northwest Efate 
in Vanuatu that is centred on the 
life and death of the legendary chief 
Roimata. Staff also participated in the 
Vanuatu Carbon Credits Project, led by 
the Victoria University in Wellington. 
To date, the team has provided legal 
advice on land law, forestry law and 
environmental law. 

• Mr Robert Early of Pacific Languages 
Unit under the School of Language, 
Arts and Media collaborated with 
the Niuean compilers of the Tohi 
Vagahau He Vagahau Niue (Niuean 
monolingual dictionary), which was 
officially launched in Niue by the Prime 
Minister of New Zealand and the 
Premier of Niue. In contrast to bilingual 
dictionaries which are more widely 
available, this is the first such dictionary 
to be published for any language in the 
USP region, where all the content is in 
a Pacific language.

• Mr Early also conducted Intensive 
Bislama Language Training courses 
for Japanese Overseas Cooperation 
Volunteers and the New Zealand High 
Commission in Vanuatu.

• Dr Sitaniselao Manu of the Institute of 
Education (IOE) assisted the Nauru 
Department of Education’s Curriculum 
Unit in reviewing the Mathematics 
curriculum framework from pre-school 
to Form 3 level. Dr Manu also talked 
to teachers about the role(s) of their 
vernacular in Mathematics.

• Professor of Education Konai 
Thaman of the School of Education 
delivered the keynote address titled 
‘Acknowledging change and valuing 
difference: rethinking social dynamics 
for Pacific peoples’, at the Social Policy 
Research and Evaluation Conference 
held in Wellington, New Zealand 
which was hosted by New Zealand’s 
Ministry of Social Development. 
Professor Thaman was also appointed 
a member of the Steering Committee 
of the International Union for the 
Conservation of Nature and Natural 
Resources’ Commission on Education 
and Communication as Regional Chair 
for the Pacific. 

• In September, the Pacific Writing 
Forum (PWF) celebrated its 10th 
anniversary. PWF was established in 
1997, as part of the then Department 
of Literature and Language. Today 
it is the creative expression and 
publications arms of the School of 
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Language, Arts and Media. In the past 
10 years PWF has published more 
than 100 writers’ in its books, journals, 
occasional papers and anthologies. 
It has hosted a veritable who’s who 
of Pacific writers in its ‘Writers’ in 
Residence’ programme, including Mr 
Albert Wendt, Ms Sia Figiel, Mr Toa 
Fraser, Mr Raymond Pillai, Mr John 
Pule and Mr Sudesh Mishra among 
others. 

• On 14 September, the USP Marshall 
Islands Campus held its Open Day. 
Visitors and potential students enjoyed 
the displays, demonstrations and 
dances performed throughout the day. 

The opening ceremony was addressed 
by the President of the Marshall 
Islands, His Excellency Kessai H. Note 
and attended by the Ambassador of 
the United States, Mr Clyde Bishop 
and the Japanese Chargé d’Affairs.  

• In December, the Pacific Governance 
Network was established at a 
colloquium sponsored by the 
Governance Programme. The 
development of the governance 
network was initiated through a 
partnership led by USP and the Pacific 
Islands Forum Secretariat which 
evolved from the World Summit on 

Sustainable Development (WSSD) 
Type II initiative.

• The College of Foundation Studies 
extended its study programme to 
include Francophone schools in 
Vanuatu. The College provided 
assistance in the English language 
courses at the Preliminary and 
Foundation levels. 

• Fifteen acres of land at Tuikatoti in 
Takitumu was gifted to the University 
by Papa Tangaroa Kainuku and Mama 
Ngamata Teamaru of Ngati Kainuku 
for a new USP Cook Islands Campus. 
A key component of the new campus 
will be the ‘Are Marama Nui’ or ‘House 
of Enlightment’, a traditional place of 
learning.

• USP’s Cook Islands Campus 
collaborated with the Cook Islands 
Ministry of Education to ensure that all 
early childhood education teachers in 
the Cook Islands have a Certificate or 
Diploma in Early Childhood Education 
by 2010. The Ministry of Education 
provided leadership with tutoring 
administration and fee support, with 
funding assistance from the PRIDE 
Project which is implemented by the 
Institute of Education at USP.

• The Pacific Islands Legal Information 
Institute (PacLII) conducted training 
in the use of PacLII and other legal 
databases in Vanuatu, Kiribati, Fiji, 
Australia, Cook Islands, Solomon 
Islands and Samoa to a range of 
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participants including members of the 
judiciary, government law officers, legal 
professionals, students, parliamentary 
staff, media professionals and 
members of the public.

• In 2007, the Faculty of Business and 
Economics continued to record the 
largest number of enrolments at USP. 
The Faculty provides a significant 
amount of face-to-face teaching in the 
region using the ‘flexi-school approach’ 
in Fiji, Samoa, Tonga, the Cook Islands, 
the Marshall Islands and Kiribati. 

• Senior laboratory staff at the Institute 
of Applied Sciences (IAS) assisted in 
training national water laboratory staff 
from the region under contracts from 
the Pacific Islands Applied Geoscience 
Commission (SOPAC) and the World 
Health Organisation (WHO). The 
Quality Unit also prepared a quality 
manual for these laboratories and 
trained staff.  

• 2007 marked 20 years of journalism 
education at USP. The Division of 
Journalism under the School of 
Language, Arts and Media has 
produced over 100 graduates spread 
across 14 Pacific Island countries.

• In order to improve student experience 
and improve pass rates, the Faculty of 
Science and Technology made tutorial 
visits to the Solomon Islands, Vanuatu, 
Kiribati and Tonga for 100-level biology 
and chemistry courses. New DFL 
courses in chemistry, engineering and 
a complete suite of information science 
courses and 100- and 200-level 

computer science courses have been 
the developed for delivery using the 
Moodle platform. 

• The Democracy and Electoral Systems 
Programme participated as observers 
in the general elections in Papua New 
Guinea in June and Kiribati in August.

• Mr Henry Elder of the Institute 
of Education (IOE) coordinated 
several activities in consultation and 
collaboration with IOE colleagues, as 
Coordinator of the NZAID-funded Re-
thinking Education Initiative for and by 
Pacific People.

• In April, the Pacific’s newest radio 
station Radio Pasifik Nauru, Triple 9 
FM, began broadcasting. The project 
was initiated by Media Resource 
Coordinator at USP’s Media Centre 
Ms Linda Austin, and USP’s Nauru 
Campus Director Ms Alamanda Lauti, 

• The Institute of Education embarked 
on a journey to promote indigenous 
writing, particularly creative writing in 
the USP Member Countries. A writing 
workshop was conducted for USP staff 
and students who were interested in 
creative writing in their own languages. 
Represented at the workshop were 25 
writers from Kiribati, Solomon, Tonga, 
Rotuma and Fiji. 

• As part of the Moving Pacific 
course, postgraduate students from 
USP’s Pacific Studies Programme 
collaborated with the Korova 
Community in Suva, Fiji and presented 
Mara-i-Wai: Korova, stories of 
navigation, loss and survival at sea in 
an open air performance of Fijian meke 
and creative dance, art and music 
recently along the sea front at Queen 
Elizabeth Drive in Suva. 

Mara-i- wai: performance in the sea by students from USP’s Pacific Studies Programme.
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• In May, the 10,000 Steps Challenge 
was launched at the University’s 
Laucala Campus. The Challenge was 
taken on by 212 staff members who 
over a period of 12 weeks, walked their 
way to fitness and health. The aim was 
to walk a minimum of 10,000 steps 
daily. The challengers also attended 
seminars on nutrition, stress and time 
management. 

• USP’s Cook Islands Campus Director, 
Mr Rod Dixon collaborated with 
the Department of National Human 
Resources Development, to help 
revitalise the Cook Islands Hospitality 
and Tourism Training Centre as a fully 
accredited, industry led, independent 
training provider. 

• The Cook Islands Campus collaborated 
with SENZ Cook Islands to offer 
pathways to further study for young 
people who left senior school at an 
early age. In 2007, 24 young men and 
women graduated from the SENZ 
programme with the New Zealand 
National Certificate in Sport Level 
2. The majority have proceeded to 
employment or further studies at 
secondary or tertiary institutions such 
as Mount Albert Grammar, Kings 
College, the Manakau Institute of 
Technology and USP.

• The USP Cook Islands Campus 
offered a full on-island 7th Form for 
Araura College, Aitutaki.  As part of 
this initiative, Telecom Cook Islands 
provided an expanded broadband 
capacity to Araura College to allow 
faster Internet and email connections 

between the USP Campus and Araura 
students. 

• The University’s Emalus Campus 
strengthened its relationship and 
partnership with the Ministry of 
Education and secondary schools in 
Vanuatu resulting in the increased 
delivery of USP school-based 
programmes, with a record school-
based registration in 14 schools 
throughout the country. All nine 
Francophone senior secondary schools 
enrolled its Year 12 and Year 13 
students in LLP13 and/or LLF11.

• During the year the Graduate School 
of Business staff strengthened its 
relationship with the private sector in 
Fiji through addressing professional 
groups and conducting executive 
management training short courses. 
These included the Fiji Employers 
Federation, National Centre for Small 
and Micro Enterprises Development, 
Fiji National Provident Fund, and the 
International Labour Office Tripartite 
Technical Meeting on Decent Work: 
Pacific Island Countries. 

• The Faculty of Science and Technology 
conducted a UNESCO-funded 
workshop for science teachers 
from throughout Fiji in December. 
The workshop was attended by 65 
teachers and three senior staff from 
the Curriculum Development Unit from 
Fiji’s Ministry of Education.

• IAS is leading implementation of a 
project on climate change adaptive to 
coastal change and water resources 

in six villages in Fiji. Action plans have 
been developed with each community 
and are starting to be implemented. 
The focus will be on low-cost 
sustainable responses communities 
can undertake rather than high-cost 
‘hard’ infrastructure options. IAS is 
also part of an international effort to 
study the resilience of mangroves and 
coral reefs in Fiji to climate change 
under a contract from the Worldwide 
Fund for Nature (WWF). It is also 
funded to train youth in the region to 
understand climate change and teach 
others through the use of drama and 
demonstration projects.

• The USP Labasa Campus through its 
Savusavu Centre continued to provide 
information technology training for 
Namale Resort and Jean-Michel 
Cousteau Fiji Islands Resort, cementing 
a long-term professional relationship 
with USP. Various cohorts were 
established in remote areas and thus 
strengthened its commitment to face-
to-face mode of teaching. 

• In September, Uno in Aelon Majol, 
the Marshallese version Traditional 
Medicine of the Marshall Islands: the 
women, the plants, the treatments 
written by Marshall Islands Campus 
Director, Dr Irene Taafaki, Ms Maria 
Kabua-Fowler and Professor of 
Geography Randy Thaman was 
published by IPS Publications. This 
book complements the 2006 English 
version which was distribution to 
schools, teachers and other institutions.
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• During the implementation phase 
of the USP composting project, the 
Pacific Centre for Environment and 
Sustainable Development team was 
involved in public exhibitions to 
promote composting as an organic 
waste management option during the 
Fiji Arbour week and Environment 
week. In addition, visits were made to 
secondary and primary schools and 
rural communities within Viti Levu were 
in partnership with Live and Learn 
Environmental Education, Fiji National 
Food and Nutrition Centre and the 
Chemical Society of the South Pacific. 

• Ms Cresantia F. Koya, Dr A Sharma, 
Professor Konai Helu Thaman, Mr 
Teweiariki Teaero, Dr Govinda Lingam 
and Dr Unaisi Nabobo-Baba of the 
School of Education served on the Asia 
Pacific Centre for UNESCO Project on 
Education for Sustainable Development.

• In September, the School of Language, 
Arts and Media’s Language Services 
Centre, conducted a three-day writing 
workshop for nine intermediate and 
secondary school students in Fiji aged 
between 11 and 17. The workshop 
trained participants to write for the 
Suva-based teenagers’ newspaper, 
Kaila, published weekly by the Fiji Times 
Limited. 

• USP Marshall Islands Campus Director, 
Dr Irene Taafaki’s community service 
included work with the National Focal 
Group: Global Environment Facility 
Small Grants Programme; TVET 
Steering Committee; National Board 
Pacific Open Learning Network; 
National Climate Change Task Force 
and Minister in Assistance’s monthly 
consultative and information sharing 
group of offices under the Office of the 
President.

• USP’s Niue Campus Director, Maru 
Talagi also participated in community 
activities, which included Senior 
Vice President of the Niue Sports 
Association and National Olympic 
Committee. He was also the President 
of Niue Rugby League and during the 
South Pacific Games in Samoa, was 
Niue’s General Team Manager, General 
Secretary, and Chef de Mission. Mr 
Talagi is also the academic adviser 
of the Niue Focal Group (NFG), a 
voluntary group that oversees the 
UNDP Small Grants Scheme (SGS) in 
Niue.

• In late 2007, the Director of Cook 
Islands Campus and Jean Mason of the 
Cook Islands Library Museum (CILM) 
were awarded $10,000 in research 
funding to develop an image bank 
of Cook Islands artefacts in overseas 
collections. The funding was expended 
in November/December 2007, with 
major image purchases from the 
British Museum, the Field Museum 
of Chicago, Te Papa, the Auckland 
Museum, and the University of London. 
The images have been stored in an 
image bank and will be copied to CD 
for distribution to artists and schools. 

• The Cook Islands Campus was 
involved in the establishment of the 
Cook Islands Research Association, 
in association with the Ministry of 
Cultural Development, the Ministry of 
Education, the Cook Islands Library 
and Museum Society and the National 
Council of Women. 
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• Ms Lynda Newland and Dr Ropate 
Qalo of the School of Social Sciences 
provided teaching support for 
inmates at Naboro Prison in Fiji who 
were enrolled in Sociology courses. 
Ms Newland has also liaised with 
Prison officials for prisoner access to 
computer facilities. They also attended 
a Prison Services Seminar at the Pacific 
Theological College. 

• With 2007 being the year of the 
general and presidential elections 
in Kiribati, the USP Kiribati Campus 
Director Dr Ueantabo Mackenzie, 
played a prominent role in preparing 
and educating the people on the 
election process. Dr Mackenzie was 
the moderator and chair of two national 
debates in August before the general 
elections and the presidential elections. 

• In April, the Governance Programme 
collaborated with Fiji-based 
Constitutional Citizens’ Forum (CCF) 
in hosting the first public screening of 
‘Struggling for a better Living: Squatters 
in Fiji’, a documentary commissioned by 
CCF and produced by the Secretariat 
of the Pacific Community’s Regional 
Media Centre.

• Good Governance Indicators for Pacific 
Island Countries – Cook Islands, Fiji, 
Papua New Guinea, Samoa, Solomon 
Islands, Tonga and Vanuatu – for the 
period of 1995-2005 was launched 
by Professor Ron Duncan at the 2007 
ANU-Fiji Update. 

• A Pacific Studies Programme has been 
developed for the proposed new USP 
Cook Islands Campus. The aim of the 
programme is to target the international 
study-abroad market, taking maximum 
advantage of the programme’s location 
in the cultural and environmental 
context of the Cook Islands.  

• Mr Teweiariki Teaero of the School of 
Education and colleagues in the School, 
successfully secured external funding 
for several teacher development 
activities, publications and teaching 
purposes. These include the Project 
Manager of ACCU Project on the 
Training of Untrained Teachers in 
Kiribati; Pacific Arts and Culture; funds 
for the purchase of essential items/
equipment needed for the development 
of pottery and ceramics courses at 
Laucala Campus, and Project Manager 
of AusAID’s Small Grants Scheme to 
fund a publication on the collection of 
ancient Kiribati songs.

• In October, a new MoU between the 
University of French Polynesia (UFP) 
and USP was signed. The new five-year 
agreement between the two institutions 
aims to enhance cooperation through 
staff and students exchanges in the 
three priority areas as outlined in the 
Cooperation Seminar between USP 
and Higher Education and Research 
institutions from the Pacific French 
Territories. 

• Also in October, the Taiwan/Republic 
of China approved support for the 
following four projects in October 
2007 for funding in 2008 to the 
total amount of US$123,700. These 
include: Developing a Modern and 
Accurate Tropical Cyclone Database 
for the South Pacific Region, Pesticide 
Residues in Imported Foods in the 
Pacific, Improving Access to Library 
Materials in the Pacific, and Private 
Sector Small Business Developers and 
Managers Capacity Building Workshop.

• In November, through the French 
Pacific Fund, the following four projects 
received assistance from in the amount 
of 87,000 Euros: Shrimp Culture, Waste 
Management, Environmental Research, 
and the Oceania Centre for Arts and 
Culture (OCAC).

• The first ever seminar on scientific and 
research cooperation between France 
and USP was held at the Laucala 
Campus. Discussions focused on 
creating a more strategic partnership 
for the mutual benefits of institutions, 
researchers from the French Territories 
in the Pacific and the people of the 
Pacific. The seminar was attended 
by USP’s academic staff, staff of the 
French Embassy in Fiji ad academics 
from universities and institutions in 
French Polynesia and New Caledonia.
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The 2006 Annual Report states that “USP 
has continued to meet or exceed its growth 
targets for student enrolments from both 
within the region and internationally…USP 
has a tremendous opportunity to market 
short courses and study abroad programmes 
to overseas students”. Wherever possible, 
where benefits accrue to USP, staff and 
students, USP engages with both the 
regional and international communities, in 
research, student exchanges and visiting 
scholar programmes. 

In addition, USP attempts to meet its 
strategic objectives by developing and 
maximising long-term mutually beneficial 
relationships between itself and the donor 
community. Scanning the environment to 
find alignment between USP’s strategic 
priorities and external donor priorities and 
geographic focus is particularly important. 

The following section highlights student 
achievements in winning international 
awards and the recognition staff receive 
through international commissions for 
consulting, research, and training. 

HIGHLIGHTS AND ACTIVITIES 
 IN 2007 

• The International Pacific Island’s Mositi 
Vanuaso project – a community based 
resource management initiative led 
by USP academic and Director of 
IOI-Pacific Islands Dr Joeli Veitayaki, 
won the National Energy Globe Award 
for the country of Fiji. Since 2002 the 
villagers in the Vanuaso Tikina in the 
Gau Islands in Fiji, have collaborated 
with USP to help manage their 
environmental resources to prepare 
them for difficult and challenging times 
ahead. 

• In July, the international accreditation 
of IAS’s Analytical Unit underwent 
its first three-yearly complete review, 
which resulted in a renewal of its 
accreditation and expansion of 
the range of analyses under this 
accreditation. The sample registry 
system was also computerised. The 
Unit performed more than 12,000 
analyses on 3,000 samples submitted. 
A large number of these were on 
environmental samples especially 
effluent management and baseline 
water quality. A number of water and 
food samples were analysed for safety, 
both for internal consumption and for 
export purposes.  

• In 2007, a full audit resulted in the 
renewal of the official accreditation of 
the IAS laboratory by the International 
Accreditation New Zealand.  This 
achievement is the first of its kind in 
the region and is the result of years of 
hard work. 

• The IAS Food Unit was one of six 
worldwide laboratories chosen 
by the UNEP for development as 
a regional centre of excellence in 
persistent organic pollutants (POPs) 
analysis. Internal and external training 
was completed in 2007 and also a 
project detecting POPs in air with the 
EU expert laboratory in the Czech 
Republic.

• In May, the Government of France 
approved F$218,616 to fund staff and 
student scientific exchanges, teaching 
of the French language and support for 
the Journalism Programme.

• The University continued to receive 
substantial development assistance 
from a number of donors in support 
of the University’s strategic activities. 
The aid budget for 2007 amounted to 
F$22.1 million with the Government 
of New Zealand Government being 
the University’s largest donor with 
continued strong support provided 
by the European Commission and the 
Government of Australia. 

International Activities

The international higher education market presents both opportunities and threats to USP and 

particularly since universities around the world have increased the provision of distance learning 

to offshore students. 
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• New arrangements were successfully 
negotiated with the Government of 
Australia for two additional projects 
in 2007. These included the Electoral 
Studies Project, a three-year project 
that commenced in June and the 
Teacher Education in the Pacific which 
was completed between July and 
December.   

• The Government of Australia also 
provided F$125,000 to implement 
and manage a project on climate 
change adaptation in Fiji through the 
Pacific Centre for Environment and 
Sustainable Development (PACE-SD). 

• Final details for the basic design of the 
Japan-Pacific ICT Centre were finalised 
in 2007 with the construction of the 
Centre to commence in early 2008. This 
project funded by the Government of 
Japan is expected to cost F$30 million.

• Through the Japanese-based 
organisation, Asia-Pacific Network for 
Global Change Research, a project 
on ‘Understanding Environmental 
Decision-making in the Rural Pacific 
Islands’ was approved for funding to 
the University. The project commenced 
in June and is being implemented 
through the School of Geography.

• In 2007, joint funding from MacArthur 
and Packard Foundations to the 
amount of F$2.47 million enabled the 
Institute of Applied Sciences (IAS) 
to continue its pioneering work in 
assisting communities to sustainably 

manage and monitor their marine 
resources over the next four years. 

• Professor James McMaster of the 
Graduate School of Business received 
a grant of $72,000 from the Republic 
of China (Taiwan) to undertake a 
project in 2007 entitled: ‘Training Small 
Business Managers and Entrepreneurs 
in to the use of the IFC World Bank 
SME Business Toolkit’. This project 
was expanded to cover more activities 
and countries by a grant received from 
the EU’s Management Development 
Programme that contributed $240,000 
and by funding from the Pacific Islands 
Forum Secretariat. It was developed 
at the request of the participating 
countries after trialling the World 
Bank SME toolkit with country 

representatives at the EU-funded 
Regional Small Business Development 
Conference held at the Graduate 
School of Business, USP in Fiji in 
September 2006.

• Research on the fascinating subject of 
‘vanished islands’ in Solomon Islands 
appeared in the Journal South Pacific 
Studies, published by Kagoshima 
University in Japan. It interprets the 
oral traditions of islands which have 
disappeared in the Makira-Ulawa-
Malaita area of Solomon Islands 
in terms of its dynamic geological 
character, and suggests that periodic 
island collapse may be a feature of 
this area. Similar research has been 
carried out in Vanuatu. The article 
was written by USP staff members 

Staff at work in the  IAS laboratory.



34 T h e  a n n u a l  r e p o r t  o f  t h e  V i c e  C h a n c e l l o r    o f  t h e  U n i v e r s i t y  o f  t h e  S o u t h  P a c i f i c  2 0 0 7

ANNUAL REPORT 2007 | USP

Professor Patrick Nunn and Dr Paul 
Geraghty together with postgraduate 
students, Tony Heorake and Sereana 
Usuramo and undergraduate students 
Esther Tegu, Bronwyn Oloni, Kellington 
Simeon and Lysa Wini. 

• The Pacific Centre for Environment and 
Sustainable Development (PACE-SD) 
in 2007 strengthened its position as 
an equal partner with others regional 
groups, in particular, Education for 
Sustainable Development (ESD), 
Integrated Solid Waste Management 
(ISWM) and Climate Change. PACE-
SD has been involved in nearly all 
the regional discussions organised 
by various regional organisations and 
other key stakeholders. 

• The University’s Oceania Centre for 
Arts and Culture (OCAC) groups, The 
Oceania Dance Theatre and musicians 
Sound Wave were presented with one 
of the top ten prizes at the inaugural 
Asia Pacific Youth Arts Festival (AYAF) 
in Shenzhen, China. 

• OCAC Red Wave artist, Mr Josaia 
McNamara, won a Commonwealth 
Arts and Crafts Award. Of more 
than 365 entries, 10 including Mr 
McNamara’s were selected for 
the award. Winners must use their 
prize money to travel to another 
Commonwealth country, for 
attachment in an art institution. Mr 
McNamara has chosen to travel to 
Bangladesh where he will be attached 
for several months in 2008. 

• The South Pacific Journal of 
Natural Science (SPJNS) signed a 
Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) 
with the Commonwealth Scientific 
and Industrial Research Organisation 
(CSIRO) publishers in Melbourne, 
Australia. Under the MoU, CSIRO 
which is Australia’s national science 
agency and one of the largest and most 
diverse research agencies in the world, 
will publish the SPJNS online, as well 
as create and maintain the journal’s 
website, which provides a range of 
information for authors, readers and 
subscribers. CSIRO produces about 12, 
000 publications a year. 

• In April, Boston University completed 
their Cook Islands programme with 
31 students undertaking a one week 
field visit to the USP’s Cook Islands 
Campus. The Campus also assisted 
in developing a study programme 
for one week field visits by 120 
international students from Auckland 
and Canterbury Universities in New 
Zealand.

• In May, an International Pacific 
Studies Programme, developed for 
USP’s Cook Islands Campus, aimed 
at the international study-abroad 
market, was trialled with 15 students 
from Malaspina University College, 
Vancouver Island. Two Pacific studies 
courses were taught over five weeks 
by Professor Ron Crocombe and Mr 
Gerald McCormack and credited by 
their home institution. 

Malaspina students on field  work in the outer islands of the Cook Islands
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• The Auckland University of Technology 
in New Zealand collaborated with 
USP’s Cook Islands Campus to provide 
a Masters in Art and Design for nine 
students (all established Cook Islands 
artists) and a Certificate Level 4 in 
Computer Graphic Design for 20 
students and will be completed in 
2008. 

• In August, the Faculty of Science 
and Technology staff attended the 
USP-Korean Maritime University 
(KMU) Symposium on Renewable 
Energy which was held at USP’s 
Laucala Campus. A Memoradum of 
Understanding was established with 
KMU and research student visits have 
been initiated.

• Extensive international research 
collaboration exists between the 
Faculty of Science and Technology 
and universities in Australia, New 
Zealand, United States, India, United 
Kingdom, Germany. Staff and graduate 
students have attended a number of 
international conferences in Hawaii, 
India, Sri Lanka, Malaysia, Australia, 
Papua New Guinea, Japan, Canada, 
Italy, New Zealand, USA, Russia, 
Tahiti, Spain, China, Thailand, Austria, 
Brussels, and Czechoslovakia.

• In October, the Pacific Centre 
for Environment and Sustainable 
Development (PACE-SD) and the 
South Pacific Regional Environment 
Programme (SPREP) coordinated 
the Pacific launch of UNEP’s global 
publication, the Global Environmental 
Outlook (or GEO-4) report during 
the 8th Pacific Islands Conference 
on Nature Conservation and 
Protected Areas in PNG. GEO-4 is 
an authoritative publication on global 
environmental changes such as 
climate change, land degradation and 
the loss of biodiversity and suggests 
choices available to policy makers and 
practitioners to address the challenges 
accompanying global environmental 
changes.

• The Division of Journalism under 
the School of Language Arts and 
Media signed Memorandums of 
Understanding with the United Nations 
Development Programme (UNDP) 
and the Asian Media Information/
Communication Centre (AMIC). 

• Ms Ashla Singh of the School of Social 
Sciences was a member of the ILO/
Japan Institute Labour Policy Training 
Asia Pacific Research Network and 
attended an ILO/Japan Institute for 
Labour Policy and Training workshop 
in Bangkok, Thailand on ‘Promoting 
decent work in global production 
systems in the Asia Pacific’.

• Dr Katarina Tuinamuana was an 
editorial board member on the Journal 
of Asia-Pacific Journal of Teacher 
Education (International), an editorial 
board member on the Journal of 
Teacher Education and Training 
(International) and a reviewer for 
the American Educational Research 
Journal: Teaching, Learning, Human 
Development (International).

• In July, Dr Indu Chandra of the 
School of Language, Arts and Media 
participated in the 8th World Hindi 
Conference which was held at the 
United Nations headquarters in 
New York. She presented a paper 
discussing the scenario of teaching 
Hindi in Fiji and the associated issues 
and problems faced and how these are 
overcome. 

• The Faculty of Islands and Oceans 
received overseas student groups 
from the United States, Germany and 
Australia. The Faculty found the visits 
a good way of strengthening ties and 
links with overseas institutions as well 
as enhancing a better understanding of 
different cultures and values amongst 
students.

• New international scholarship: Steve 
and Laetitia Carter Scholarship. 
Support for tuition, books and stipend.

USP Actng Vice-Chancellor Dr Esther Williams 
(centre) with Mr Ram Chandra of Fiji’s Ministry of 
Education and Mr Hideya Kobayashi from JICA.
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Over the past year USP continued its efforts 
at building a consistent corporate identity 
through its key corporate publications and 
print advertising thereby reinforcing brand 
awareness for market recognition and 
institutional ownership. 

The University’s Marketing and 
Communications Office continued to 
place heavy emphasis on public relations 
within the region, to keep Pacific Island 
communities and governments informed 
about the University and the benefits it 
offered to them. 

HIGHLIGHTS AND ACTIVITIES 
 IN 2007 

 
• The Cook Islands Campus continued to 

make extensive use of local television 
and newspapers to market its courses 
to the public. The Campus also made a 
substantial input into the Cook Islands 
Career Expo.

• The USP Open Day continues to be a 
key public relations event with a very 
jubilant Open Day for Emalus Campus, 
Port Vila, Vanuatu which began with a 

very colourful march throughout Port 
Vila town to the Campus. 

• The School of Economics organised a 
very successful Open Day programme 
in 2007 and was presented a prize for 
being one of the best organised for 
the Open Day. It has also upgraded its 
website and regularly updated. 

• The Institute of Applied Sciences (IAS) 
considers marketing as an important 
feature for IAS and outreach is often 
done though presentations at relevant 
professional meetings. For the region 
the strategy of working through USP’s 
regional campuses will continue to 
be explored. An internal committee 
was been set up for marketing and 
a number of activities undertaken. 
For public relations a number of 
project findings are written up as IAS 
Technical Reports but it is recognised 
more effort needs to be expended to 
publicise IAS’ many successes.  

• USP’s Labasa Campus hosted all 
the Head Teachers and Principals 
from the schools in Labasa town and 

introducing and them to the Campus. 
The Manager Savusavu Centre had 
secured good corporate relationship 
with a number of key hotels in 
Savusavu through marketing and 
community outreach.

• The Pacific Centre for Environment 
and Sustainable Development (PACE-
SD) in conjunction with the START - 
Oceania Secretariat the Oceanic Waves 
forms an important communication 
product of the Centre. All major 
activities and projects undertaken by 
the Centre are regularly featured in the 
Oceanic Waves. The Centre’s liaison 
with regional governments and other 
CROP agencies and participation in 
regional and international meetings 
had also given the Centre the 
opportunity to promote itself and USP 
in general. 

• New brochures promoting the School 
of Social Sciences and its programmes 
were designed for the University Open 
Day. These were distributed at the 
Open Day and also sent out to the 

Marketing and Communications

Excellent international and regional community relations provide a source of strength in fulfilling 

the University’s mission by helping to understand the needs of the community, establishing 

partnerships within the community and by building stronger links with individuals, business and 

public sector organisations and civil society.
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various University regional campuses 
and centres. The School’s website 
was also used as a marketing tool, 
promoting each individual lecturer, the 
courses offered and events that take 
place within the School.

• Ms Cresantia Koya of the School of 
Education disseminated a ten-minute 
visual presentation of the school 
and publication materials including 

posters and brochures on courses 
and programmes on offer to all 
member countries through the various 
campuses. School packages were also 
prepared and disseminated for the 
Faculty of Arts and Law for Open Day. 

• The School of Law reviewed and 
updated about 45 legal literacy 
brochures. Ms Jenny Harders and Ms 
Beatrice Gikonyo under the supervision 

of Ms Sunita Bois-Singh reviewed and 
updated the brochures.

• Promoting wider understanding of the 
principles of good governance is one 
of the key goals of the Governance 
Programme at USP. Exploring the use 
of mass media is thus a significant 
undertaking. USP Governance 
Alumni in July 2007 established the 
Governance@radiopasifik programme. 
Training took place between July 
and September with Ms Shirley Tagi, 
manager of Radio Pasifik.

• In May, the Governance Programme 
convened the Fourth Annual Savenaca 
Siwatibau Memorial Lecture on 
Good Governance, in collaboration 
with Transparency International – Fiji 
Chapter. Mr Samuela Yavala of the 
Fiji Institute of Technology’s lecture 
on ‘Good Governance in Sports’ was 
relayed via video link to the University 
of Victoria, Wellington and to the 
Australian National University. 
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The USP Strategic plan, 2006-2010 is 
based on the expansive University’s Futures 
Report: A Regional University of Excellence: 
Weaving the Past and Present for the Future, 
which emphasised the overarching goals 
of quality and relevance for USP. The USP 
Strategic Plan translated those goals into 
five major focus areas:

a. Teaching and Learning
b. Research
c. Student and Staff Support
d. Constituent and External Relations
e. Governance, Administration, and 

Management

The University Council established a Task 
Force on Governance in 2006 to explore 
in more detail a range of emerging and 
strategic issues relating to the governance 
structure of the university.  The Task Force 
comprises a cross section of Council 
members, regional education ministers, 
USP Finance and Audit representatives, as 
well as representatives from Australia, New 
Zealand and the British governments, the 
Pacific Islands Forum Secretariat, and the Fiji 
School of Medicine.    

Among matters for consideration are the 
membership and composition of the USP 
Council, the legal framework of USP and 
the relevance and applicability of the Royal 
Charter and Statutes at this present time. 

It is also important to note that the 
University’s role with the Privy Council is 
also under review. An earlier review by 
a USP staff member, of the USP Charter 
and the implications of any deviation, did 
not encourage a move away from the 
Charter. However, the Council Task Force, 
in the interest of considering alternative 
options, agreed to explore this matter 
further as well as to review a range of other 
emerging issues relating to the University’s 
governance structure and its relationship 

with its constituents and stakeholders. 
Over the coming years, the three major 
areas for improvement comprise: 

1. Improving Governance Structure 
and Clarifying Council Roles 

2. Enhancing Governance 
Information and Reporting

3. Enhancing USP Planning and 
Resource Management

Each component has a set of activities 
associated with sub-components targeting 
specific areas e.g. information and reporting 
to member governments; enhancing Council 
information and reporting structures, 
strengthening financial governance, 
enhancing member government 
relationships, strengthening university 
structures and key positions, strengthening 
Council roles and responsibilities. 

The overall objective is to enhance and 
strengthen USP executive governance 
structures and operations to facilitate 
timely and informed decision making at the 
executive and senior management levels.

This broader university governance aims 
to rationalise USP governance structures 
for greater clarity to facilitate a smoother 
operation at the executive levels and 
to provide the executive and senior 
management levels with the informed 
advice on broader planning and resource 
management.
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In 2007 USP faced a number of major 
challenges, including: 

• Facilities – poorly maintained facilities, 
inadequate study spaces for students 
and offices for staff, inadequate 
research spaces, health and safety 
concerns; 

• HR – professional development, staff 
recruitment, commitment to collective 
bargaining, salary reviews, maturing 
faculty demographics; 

• Academic – high student numbers, 
high number of undersubscribed 
courses, need for new and appropriate 
processes and policies relating to 
programmes and courses, attention 
to student learning and services, 
increased research; 

• Student services – need upgrading 
in specific areas, improved academic 
counselling and advising, limited 
financial aid, limited support 
and learning services, student 
accommodation; 

• Governance and Organisation – legal 
framework, new financing model, 
effective planning, inadequate 
investment, data management 
and access to be improved, 
communications with stakeholders.

HIGHLIGHTS AND ACTIVITIES 
 IN 2007 

A number of actions have been taken to 
commence to stabilise the financial situation 
in 2007 and to provide a framework for 
achieving benefits in 2008.  These include: 

• Increased communication about the 
financial situation; 

• Requests to achieve 5% reductions in 
budgets for 2008; 

• Establishment of a BDRC (Budget 
Deficit Reduction Committee) at the 
end of 2007 with the purposes of: 
• Reducing the expected 2008 

deficit 
• Eliminating the need for a 

continuing series of minor cuts 
• Strengthening USP regional 

position and better pursue its 
strategic goals and plans 

• Developing a University wide plan 
to improve cost effectiveness and 
enhance income 

Finance

These actions are taking place within the 
framework of a broader “strengthening” 
project that will better enable it to respond 
to “the development of Member Countries 
and communities through the provision 
of relevant and cost effective education, 
training, research and consulting of the 
highest standard”.  

The scope of this broader project is shown 
below: 

There are no easy solutions to the 
challenges facing USP and there is a need 
to work together on improving the situation 
and on this project. USP’s teaching, 
research and public service have an 
extraordinary impact on the economies and 
quality of life in our 12 Member Countries 
and this must be preserved. 
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Higher education sector students have high 
expectations of the quality of education and 
the value of their qualifications. They rightly 
expect value for money. The preparation 
for the institutional Quality Audit in 2007 
was therefore welcomed in light of this 
expectation. In addition USP must provide 
an environment conducive to students’ 
positive learning experience. For USP there 
is the particular challenge of ensuring 
distance and flexible learning students enjoy 
a student experience that is comparable 
to their on-campus counterparts. In 2007, 
with NZAID support, F$1m worth of 
infrastructure and academic support was 
distributed among the regional campuses. 

By combining a broad education at 
undergraduate level and specialist skills 
at the postgraduate level, USP expects to 
produce graduates grounded in things 
Pacific as well as being part of the global 
community. 

The following section contains student 
achievements and awards won by students 
in their different programmes as well as 
cultural and sporting interactions between 
USP students and external counterparts. 
The range and diversity of these activities 
are test to the University’s aim of producing 
Pacific Island graduates grounded in things 
Pacific, as well as providing as broad as 
possible, an undergraduate education for all 
our students. Staff achievements are listed 
in the preceding section on Research. 

Student Support 
and Achievements
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Embracing diversity, inclusiveness and cultural differences.

In its Strategic Plan 2006-2010, the University commits itself to promote Pacific regional unity and 

integration. USP serves as a positive force for regional cohesion. Diverse students from across 

the Pacific coverage on its campuses, binding the region with friendships, common educational 

experiences and greater understanding of different cultural backgrounds, politics, and religions. 

USP will continue to promote an environment of respect and tolerance for these differences and 

foster a pan-Pacific consciousness to unify its student body and the region (Goal 1.2 USP Strategic 

Plan 2006-2010). The University also recognises that USP graduates should be well-rounded 

individuals with general life-skills and a sense of social responsibility in addition to their practical 

academic qualifications. Many of the sentiments, expectations and responsibilities enunciated in 

last year’s report on student support remain true today and will continue to remain true for USP.   
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HIGHLIGHTS AND ACTIVITIES 
 IN 2007 

• Master of Arts Sasakawa Young 
Leaders Fellowship Fund (SYLFF) 
fellow Mr Viliame Gaberiel 
attended a workshop on capacity 
building organised by the Oceania 
Development Network, a research arm 
of the Global Development Network, 
at the University of Papua New Guinea 
in September. Mr Gaberiel joined 
fellow SYLLF recipient Tagutu Raicebe 
in November to attend the SYLFF 
programme’s Asia/Pacific Regional 
Forum in Kolkata, India.

• USP’s Emalus Campus hosted 90 
students and 16 staff from Tokai 
University in Japan who were on an 
education tour on the ship BOSEI 
MARU. The Tokai University delegation 
was welcomed by a customary dance 
by the Pentecost students followed by 
an official welcome by Professor John 
Lynch, Pro Vice-Chancellor (Regional). 

• A USP graduate has proved that age 
is no barrier to success by becoming 
Australia’s youngest Professor of 
Finance at the age of 30. Professor 
Paresh Kumar Narayan who graduated 
with a Bachelor of Arts in Economics 
and Geography in 1997 and a Masters 
degree in Development Studies in 
1999, completed his PhD from Monash 
University in Australia in 18 months. 
Professor Narayan is also the Chair 

of Finance at Deakin University in 
Melbourne, Australia.

• Students in the Journalism Programme 
continued to win awards in 2007. Ms 
Nanise Nawalowalo and Ms Riteshni 
Singh won the 2007 Ossie Award 
for best news report (print section) 
in Australia, New Zealand and the 
Pacific. In October, the Programme 
won the best print story and best 
student journalist awards at the 
Fiji Awards for Media Excellence. 
Students Ms Vani Catanasiga and Ms 
Geraldine Panapasa, received a high 
commendation award in the same 
category. 

• USP student, Mr Kavindra Nand 
attended an Asia-Pacific Forum on 
sustainable development after winning 
an essay competition on the same 
theme, organised by the ADB and 
ROAD – a Japanese youth organisation 
concerned with development issues. 
Mr Nand wrote on ‘Sustainable 
Development for Infrastructure and 
Industry in Fiji’ and participated in 
discussions that contributed to the 
formulation of ‘The Youth Statement on 
Sustainable Development’ in Japan. The 
winning essays along with the ‘Youth 
Statement’ was compiled and presented 
at the ADB’s Board of Governors 40th 
annual meeting.

• In April, a workshop was held for the 
USP Students Leadership Programme 

through the Re-thinking Education 
Initiative for and by Pacific Peoples 
project. Dr Seu’ula Johansson Fua of 
IOE was the lead trainer. The workshop 
was held at the Laucala Campus. In 
May, Dr Fua conducted phase II of the 
programme which focused on climate 
change for Tongan, Tuvaluan and 
Samoan students. 

• Forty scholarship holders who were 
new entrants to the University were 
presented with certificates after 
successfully completing a non-credit 
week-long mathematics refresher 
course. The intensive course was 
organised by the Centre for Excellence 
in Learning and Teaching (CELT). 

• In a friendly game, USP’s women’s 
rugby team defeated Arizona 
University State 25-0. The tour of 
Fiji gave the visiting University an 
experience of playing rugby outside 
the United States of America. 

• The Peer Education Outreach at USP’s 
Laucala Campus was launched by the 
UNFPA representative, Mr Najib Assifi. 
Mr Assifi said that peer educators play 
a vital role in influencing the lives of 
friends and colleagues in providing 
them with correct information. Twenty-
six peer education volunteers at 
USP underwent training to assist the 
University’s Counselling Centre with 
reproductive and HIV/AIDS awareness.
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• In April and September, week-long 
awareness programmes on HIV/AIDS, 
reproductive health, alcohol and drug 
abuse were conducted for students 
by the USP Counselling Centre. The 
Centre collaborated with the Halls 
of Residence to train Residential 
Assistants and student volunteers in 
reproductive health and HIV/AIDS in 
Semester I. 

• Students have access to a new 
molecular biology laboratory at USP’s 
Laucala Campus providing them 
with an opportunity to complete their 
research work at USP. The laboratory 
was opened by New Zealand High 
Commissioner, His Excellency Mr 
Michael Green. 

• The School of Law held moot court 
trials for law students as part of 
their final assessments towards the 
Professional Diploma in Legal Practice. 
A total of 41 law graduates from 
around the region participated in the 
moot courts. Police investigators and 
trainers from the Fiji Police Academy 
also participated and played the role 
of witnesses. Members from Fiji’s 
judiciary and the Office of the Director 
of Public Prosecution presided over the 
cases. 

• The Faculty of Science and 
Technology held a postgraduate day 
for its biodiversity and conservation 
research group where students made 
presentations on the various research 
projects that they are working on. 
The staff of the Faculty provided 
observations and suggestions to assist 
the students in their research work.

• In an ongoing attempt to improve its 
infrastructure to cater for the needs of 
its students, the Dean of the Faculty 

of Islands and Oceans Dr Pa’olelei 
Luteru opened a computer lab worth 
F$57,000 at the Lower Laucala 
Campus. The new lab has 18 additional 
computers for undergraduate students. 

• The USP Cook Islands Campus 
recorded an increase in enrolments 
from 2006. The Campus also assisted 
in counselling and orientation of Cook 
Islands students proceeding to on-
campus studies at the Laucala and 
Emalus Campuses.
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• A state of art the seminar/conference 
room was set up for the Faculty of 
Science and Technology postgraduate 
students. The Faculty also continued 
with its Induction/Orientation Day 
(introduced in 2006) to welcome new 
students and introduced them to staff 
members. 

• The USP Marshall Islands Campus 
Library is catering for its growing 
student numbers; it is now four times 
larger with a dedicated office for the 
processing of books. A new collection 
on Climate Change was also added in 
2007. 

• Some improvement was made for the 
USP Marshall Islands Campus in faster 
comparisons of student performance. 
In 2007 students were enrolled on the 
University’s Banner Database system 
and all Foundation assignments and 
examinations for the USP Marshall 
Islands Campus were marked in Fiji. 
This now provides the Republic of the 
Marshall Islands Government and USP 
with a true comparison of results with 
other students in the USP region.

• PACE-SD and IAS jointly coordinated 
and offered one of the most popular 
and successful training courses on 
community based conservation, 
the Pacific Islands Community-
based Conservation course which is 
equivalent to one USP postgraduate 
credit. 

• PACE-SD staff also gave guest lectures 
on environment and sustainable 
development themes to visiting student 
groups from Germany, United States of 
America, and Australia. 

• The Pacific Studies Programme under 
the Pacific Institute of Advanced 
Studies in Development and 
Governance (PIAS-DG) hosted several 
international student groups from 
University of Wisconsin, Stevens Point, 
SIT Study Abroad Programme, and the 
University of Vienna.

• A cohort of 49 students from the Royal 
Papua New Guinea Constabulary 
began a Pacific policing programme 
of studies under the leadership of 
Ms Ruth Lund of the School of Social 
Sciences. Audio and visual CDs were 

produced for the student induction to 
USP and were provided with country 
specific legislation, policy documents 
and assessment tasks tailored to assist 
learning and application of theories to 
their own country. 

• The annual Open Day at USP’s Kiribati 
Campus was well attended by students 
from senior secondary schools, who 
participated in a number of activities 
including oratory contests, poetry and 
essay competitions and careers expo. 
The Open Day was opened by the 
President of Kiribati, His Excellency 
Anote Tong.

• The USP Kiribati Campus established 
an English Language Education Unit 
to assist Kiribati students in English 
language skills. In 2007, with the 
assistance from Australian Volunteers 
International, the Unit assisted 180 
students.
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Staff Achievents
 

The main functions of academic staff include 
teaching, research and consultancy. The 
majority of the staff achievements are listed 
in the preceding sections in Research 
and International matters. We single out 
the following in acknowledgement of 
the international recognition and new 
knowledge they contribute in their specific 
areas. 

• Dr Joeli Veitayaki for the National 
Energy Globe Award for the 
International Pacific Island’s Mositi 
Vanuaso project.

• Professor Patrick Nunn led a  
15-person research team in the 
excavation of Fiji’s earliest known 
human settlement in Bourewa. 

• IAS staff: 
 – collected 210 new vouchures of 

Pacific plants in association with Allen 
Herbarium of Landcare, New Zealand; 

 – adding new species to Pacific 
taxonomy.

• OCAC Red Wave artist, Mr Josaia 
McNamara, won a Commonwealth 
Arts and Crafts Award. 

T h e  a n n u a l  r e p o r t  o f  t h e  V i c e  C h a n c e l l o r     

o f  t h e  U n i v e r s i t y  o f  t h e  S o u t h  P a c i f i c  2 0 0 7
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STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

REPORTING ENTITY

The University of the South Pacific was established 
by Royal Charter of the University in 1970. It is a 
not for profit educational institution providing higher 
education to member regional countries, with its 
main operations domiciled in Fiji. The registered 
office is at Laucala Bay Campus, Suva, Fiji. 

The financial statements were authorised for 
issue by the University’s Finance and Investments 
Committee on 28th April 2008.

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
The following summary of significant 
accounting policies is given in order to assist in 
understanding the amounts presented in the 
financial statements.

(a) Statement of Compliance 
The financial statements have been prepared 
in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and their 
interpretations issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). 

The adoption of International Financial 
Reporting Standards in the financial statements 
is expected to result in additional disclosures 
and amendments to the presentation of 
the financial statements. Where income, 
expenditure, assets or liabilities have been 
reclassified in the financial statements for 
the year ended 31 December 2007, the 
comparative figures for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2006 have also been 
restated.

(b) Basis of preparation 
The financial statements are prepared on the 
basis of historical costs and, except where 
stated, do not take into account current 
valuation of non-current assets. 

The concepts of the accrual method and going 
concern basis of accounting are applied. The 
Finance and Investments Committee and 
officers of the University believe that the basis 
for preparation of the accounts is appropriate 
and that the University will be able to continue 
its normal operations in the next 12 months. 
The Committee and the officers resolved that 
the classification and carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities included in these accounts 
are appropriate.

All amounts shown in the financial statements are 
expressed in Fijian dollars. 

(c) Basis of consolidation

The format of the University’s Annual Financial 
Statements is approved by the Finance and 
Investments Committee on behalf of Council. 

The Balance Sheet, Income and Expenditure 
Account and Cash Flow Statement are 
prepared on a consolidated basis including all 
the funds of the University.

Clarendon Investments Limited and USP 
Solutions Limited, wholly owned subsidiaries 
of the University, have not been consolidated 

in the financial statements, as subsequent 
to 31 December 2006, the Directors of the 
subsidiary companies resolved to voluntary 
liquidate the companies.  

(d) Principal Activities

The University is the premier provider of 
tertiary education in the Pacific region and an 
international centre of excellence for teaching, 
research and consulting on all aspects of 
Pacific life. 

(e) Segmental Reporting

The University’s academic activities are 
regarded as a single segment of activity since 
they are undertaken by the same staff, using 
the same premises and financed substantially 
from the same income streams. None of 
the University’s other, peripheral activities 
achieve the 10% threshold which would 
require separate reporting under IFRS 8  or 
IAS 14. As a regional institution, the University 
does not consider reporting of geographical 
segmentation below regional level to be 
appropriate and cash flows outside the region 
fall below the reporting threshold. 

(f) Property, Plant and Equipment

Fair Value or revaluation as deemed cost

As a first time adopter of IFRS, the University elects 
to adopt the “deemed cost” approach in measuring 
property, plant and equipment. As at 1 January 
2006, all items of property, plant and equipment are 
deemed to be measured at fair value. 

The policy of the University is not to revalue 
its property, plant and equipment. In view of 
the specialised nature and wide geographical 
distribution of much of the University’s estate and 
equipment, it is considered that the costs of any 
revaluation to reflect current values would outweigh 
the benefit to users of these financial statements. 
The value of its fixed assets is therefore either 
their value when originally incorporated within 
the University’s balance sheet, or historical cost if 
acquired at a later date.

Depreciation

 Property, plant and equipment acquired since 
31 December 1993 are recorded at cost and 
depreciated over their estimated useful life:

(i)  Motor vehicles are written down on a straight 
line basis over 5 years.

(ii) Buildings are written down on a straight line 
basis over 66.6 years i.e. 1.5% per annum.

(iii) Equipment, Furniture, Fittings and Vessels are 
written down on a straight line basis over 5 
years. 

(iv) Computer equipment is written down on a 
straight line basis over 3 years.

The depreciation applicable to the valuation 
component of non-current assets is offset by a 
transfer from the Deferred Revenue Reserve to the 
Income & Expenditure Account. Freehold land is 
not depreciated.

Impairment

Tangible fixed assets are inspected annually by a 
Board of Survey. If the inspection identifies that the 
carrying amount of the fixed asset is overstated, 
a provision is made for the impairment. No such 
provisions have been found necessary at the 
balance sheet date.

Deferred Capital Grants

Fixed assets acquired with the aid of specific grants 
are capitalised and depreciated in accordance 
with the above policy, with the related grant being 
credited to a Deferred Revenue Reserve and 
released to the Income and Expenditure Account 
over the expected useful economic life of the 
related fixed assets. The exception to this is when 
the acquisition of a fixed asset is financed either 
through a loan or finance lease when no revenue is 
deferred to the Reserve.

(g) Leased Assets

The University leases some property under 
operating leases. The rentals are charged as 
an expense on a straight line basis over the 
term of the lease.

Assets held under leasing agreements which 
transfer to the University substantially all the 
benefits and risks of ownership of an asset are 
treated as if the asset had been purchased 
outright and are capitalised at their fair value 
at the inception of the lease and depreciated 
over the shorter of the lease term or the useful 
economic life of the assets. The capital element 
outstanding is shown as obligations under 
finance leases. The interest element of the 
lease payments is charged to the income and 
expenditure account over the life of the lease.

(h) Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost 
and net realisable value.  Cost is determined 
predominantly on the first-in, first-out basis 
of valuation.  Only inventories which are 
purchased and controlled centrally have 
been reported within the financial statements.  
Consumables purchased by the University for 
departmental use and held under the control 
of individual departments have been expensed 

within the accounts at the time of purchase. .

(i) Accounts Receivable

No provision for doubtful debts is made 
for sovereign debts on the premise that, 
despite the age of the debt, all such debts will 
eventually be paid.

For all other debts, specific provisions are 
made against debtors to cover debts where 
the recovery is considered doubtful and for all 
non-sovereign debts six months old or more.  
In addition, general provision is made to cover 
unidentified and latent risks inherent in the 
overall granting of credit.

The amounts required to fund the provision for 
doubtful debts are charged to expenditure in 
the period.  Bad debts are generally written off 
against the provision when identified.
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(j) Statement of Cash Flows

The following are the definitions of the terms 
used in the statement of cash flows:

Operating Activities include all transactions and 
other events that are that are not investing or 
financing activities.

Investing activities are those relating to the 
acquisition, holding and disposal of property, 
plant and equipment and of investments. 
Investments can include securities not falling 
within the definition of cash.

Financing activities are those that result in 
changes in the size and composition of the 
capital structure. This includes both equity and 
debt not falling within the definition of cash. 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on 
hand, deposits held with other banks, deposits 
held at call with banks, other short-term 
deposits and bank overdraft. Bank overdrafts 
are included as current liabilities on the 
balance sheet.  

(k) Employee Benefits

Provision is made in respect of the University’s 
liability for annual leave and is calculated as the 
amount unpaid as at reporting date at current 
pay rates. Accrued leave is expected to be 
utilised by the following year. 

(l) Foreign Currency Transactions

All foreign currency transactions during the 
year have been brought to account using 
the exchange rate in effect at the date of the 
transaction.  Foreign currency monetary items 
at balance date are translated at the exchange 
rate existing at that date.

Exchange differences on the University’s 
assets and liabilities are charged to the Income 
& Expenditure Account in the financial period 
in which they arise.

(m)  Income Tax

The University is exempt from income tax in 
accordance with the provision of Section 17 of 
the Fiji Income Tax Act.

(n) Revenue Recognition

 Revenue is recognised in the financial 
statements as follows:

− Government grants are recognised as revenue 
on due date;

− Student tuition fees are recognised as revenue 
on due date;

− Revenue from major donors (Australian Aid, 
New Zealand Aid, the European Union, the 
Republic of the Marshall Islands and the 
Samoa South Pacific Games Organisation) is 
recognised on due date; revenue from other 
donors is recognised on receipt;

− Revenue from trading operations is recognised 
on receipt;

− Other income is recognised on receipt except 
where a department of the University has 
arranged for a University invoice be raised to a 
third party; the revenue associated with these 
invoices is recognised on due date;

− Interest income is recognised on due date.

(o) Gifts & Donations  

Gifts and donations from Governments and Aid 
Agencies are usually for specified purposes.  
These funds are separately identified in the 
accounting system and expenditure recorded 
against each fund. Gifts which are applied 
to capital items are taken to the Deferred 
Revenue Reserve, at the lower of cost or 
valuation, and transferred to the Income & 
Expenditure Account as income over the life 
of the asset.

(p) Endowment Funds

The University has established Endowment 
Funds for specific purposes. The capital 
amount of such funds is maintained at 
its original value. The revenue generated 
through the investment of the capital is used 
in accordance with any conditions imposed 
by Council, deed, gift or by the terms of the 
endowments or bequests. Endowment funds 
are transferred to the income & expenditure 
account only when no longer required for 
the purpose for which the fund was originally 
established. 

(q) Commitment Accounting

The University operates a system of 
commitment accounting for its non-salary 
expenditure. Expenditure is recognised when 
purchase orders are placed and charged 
against the appropriate cost centre.  

(r) Superannuation Funds  

The University participates in a number of 
defined contribution superannuation schemes.  
These schemes were established to provide 
benefits to employees and their dependents 
on retirement, disability, death, retrenchment 
or withdrawal from service.  The principal types 
of benefits are pension benefits and lump-sum 
benefits.

Contributions are made by employees and 
by the University as a percentage of salary 
or specified amounts as required by relevant 
agreements. The cost to the University 
is charged as an expense at the time it is 
incurred.

2. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The University of the South Pacific has on-going 
exposures to foreign currency, liquidity risk and 
interest rate risk through its normal operations.

The overarching policies and objectives of the 
University’s treasury management activities are 
defined as being the “management and control of 
its cash flow, banking, and investment transactions; 
the effective control of the risks associated with 
those activities; and the pursuit of optimum 
performance consistent with those risks”.

The Finance and Investment Committee reviews 
and agrees policies for managing each of these 

risks, which are summarised below.

Liquidity Risk

The University’s objective is to maintain a balance 
between continuity of funding to meet its day-to-
day obligations, whilst minimising the utilisation of 
bank overdraft, which in practice, is to be used for 
contingency purposes only.

Daily operating funds are maintained with the 
approved bankers in the University’s operating 
bank accounts while surpluses are invested within 

approved guidelines.  This arrangement covers 

local, regional and international bank accounts 
which are operated by the University.

Subventions within campuses or from the main 
Laucala campus to other campuses are

carried out in order to maintain sufficient cash 
balances in all campuses for the funding of day-to-
day operations.

Foreign Currency Risk

The University has transactional currency 
exposures. Such exposures arise from receipts or 
payments in currencies other than the University’s 
main operating currency (FJD), as well as 
accounting for the regional campuses various 
currency denominations.

The University maintains off-shore bank accounts in 
its efforts to provide natural hedge against currency 
exposures.

Interest Rate Risk

The University’s exposure to the risk of changes 
in market interest rates relate primarily to the 
investment of surplus cash into ‘at call’ or short 
term deposits as well as through finance lease and 
utilisation of overdraft.  

Short-term investments are either rolled over at 
maturity at interest rates applicable on roll-over 
dates, or converted to operational use if the need 
arises at the time of maturity. Interest on overdraft is 
subject to changes in market interest rates.

Long-term investments are not feasible due to the 
nature of operations within the University, therefore, 
avoiding the risk of a cashflow mismatch or a 
liquidity shortfall.

Lending Facilities - Debt, Refinancing 
and Granting Security

The University will ensure that its borrowing, 
private financing and partnership arrangements 
are negotiated, structures, documented and the 
maturity profile of the raised monies managed, with 
a view to obtaining competitive and favourable 
terms in light of market conditions prevailing at the 
time.

Prior to entering into or negotiating for any 
agreement to increase lending facilities (including 
leases) or re-finance the University’s current 
borrowing arrangements, approval from the 
Finance and Investments Committee (FIC) must be 
obtained.

In raising capital finance, those with delegated 
authority will take account of:

(i) the University’s powers and rules and, in 
particular the University’s Charter, Statutes, 
Financial Regulations and Scheme for Financial 
Delegation;

(ii) any legal or fiscal statutory restrictions;

(iii) the terms and covenants of borrowing.

 



50

ANNUAL REPORT 2007 | USP

Notes 2007 2006

$ $

INCOME

Government Grants 1 49,923,430 47,097,575 

Student Tuition Fees 2 23,979,442 25,668,294 

Aid and Donations 3 24,332,504 20,399,932 

Trading Activities 4 18,085,011 19,161,026 

Other Income 5 10,636,179 12,228,374 

Release of Deferred Revenue 6 2,030,666 1,860,401 

Interest Income 973,419 1,240,132 

TOTAL OPERATING INCOME 129,960,651 127,655,734 

EXPENDITURE

Staff Costs 7 64,721,881 64,373,251 

Operating Costs 8 60,347,462 61,471,961 

Depreciation 4,238,067 4,596,626 

Provision for Doubtful Debt Expense 500,849  -   

Write down in Value of Inventories 225,769 320,199 

Write down in Value of Fixed Assets 14 1,026,809  -   

Write down in Value of Investments 15 300,100  -   

Net Foreign Currency (Gain)/Loss 857,899 144,477 

Interest Payable on Finance Lease 63,307 90,382 

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENDITURE 132,282,143 130,996,896 

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT)
 FROM OPERATING 
ACTIVITIES (2,321,492) (3,341,162)

Loss on Loan - USPSL (700,000)

Loss on discontinued operations - CIL (1,099,639)

SURPLUS / (DEFICIT) FOR YEAR (2,321,492) (5,140,801)

INCOME AND EXPENDITURE STATEMENT
 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2007 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of this statement.
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BALANCE SHEET 
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2007

CURRENT ASSETS

Inventories 9 5,246,172 4,733,680 

Accounts Receivable 10 12,967,934 10,138,935 

Prepayments 11 250,288 903,612 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 12 21,294,304 28,214,911 

39,758,698 43,991,138 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, Plant and Equipment 14 140,041,417 143,386,447 

Investments 15  -   300,100 

140,041,417 143,686,547 

TOTAL ASSETS 179,800,115 187,677,685 

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Creditors and Accruals 17 (16,314,309) (23,052,141)

Bank Overdraft 16 (3,459,692) (142,419)

 (19,774,001) (23,194,560)

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Creditors and Accruals 18 (413,345) (516,185)

(413,345) (516,185)

TOTAL ASSETS LESS LIABILITIES 159,612,769 163,966,940 

Represented by:

FUNDS AND RESERVES

Income & Expenditure Account 20,745,788 23,067,280 

Endowment Capital 4,860,381 4,860,381 

Deferred Revenue Reserve 134,006,600 136,039,279 

159,612,769 163,966,940 

Notes 2007 2006

$ $

The accompanying notes form an integral part of this statement.
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2007 2007 2006 2006
Note $ $ $ $

Cashflows from Operating Activities
Government Contributions 49,571,849 46,045,050 

Student Fees 25,673,845 24,526,061 

Aid & Donations 20,213,913 19,066,905 

Trading Activities 17,922,491 19,408,445 

Other Receipts 10,215,726 11,562,838 

123,597,824 120,609,299 

Salaries (64,377,221) (64,949,871)

Other Expenses (68,193,388) (63,278,592)

(132,570,609) (128,228,463)

Cash Used in  Operating Activities (8,972,785) (7,619,164)

Interest Paid (63,307) (90,382)

Net Cash from Operating Activities 13 (9,036,092) (7,709,546)

Cashflows from Investing Activities

Purchase of Fixed Assets (1,863,021) (3,430,422)

Sale of Fixed Assets 71,798 73,094 

Interest Received 930,514 1,530,102 

Net Cash used in Investing Activities (860,709) (1,827,226)

Cashflows from Financing Activities
Payment of Finance Lease Liabilities (341,079) (247,768)

Net Cash used in Financing Activities (341,079) (247,768)

Net Decrease in  Cash & Cash 
Equivalents

(10,237,880) (9,784,540)

Note

Cash & Cash Equivalents at Start of Period 28,072,492 37,857,032 

Net Decrease in  Cash & Cash Equivalents (10,237,880) (9,784,540)

Cash & Cash Equivalents at End of 
Period

12 17,834,612 28,072,492 

CASHFLOW STATEMENT
 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2007 

ANNUAL REPORT 2007 | USP
The accompanying notes form an integral part of this statement.
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2007 2006 

$ $

INCOME & EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT

Balance at 1 January  23,067,280  28,208,081 

Surplus/(Deficit) for the Year  (2,321,492)  (5,140,801)

Balance at 31 December  20,745,788  23,067,280 

ENDOWMENT CAPITAL

Balance at 1 January  4,860,381  4,860,381 

New Endowment Capital Received  -  - 

Balance at 31 December  4,860,381  4,860,381 

Analysed as:

Endowments - General  94,133  94,133 

Endowments - Specific  4,766,248  4,766,248 

Total Endowment Capital  4,860,381  4,860,381 

DEFERRED REVENUE RESERVE

Balance at 1 January  136,039,279  140,599,043 

Additions during the year  1,863,021  2,403,614 

Releases during the year - Depreciation  (3,893,687)  (4,264,015)

Releases during the year - Disposals  (2,013)  (2,699,363)

Balance at 31 December  134,006,600  136,039,279 

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2007

ANNUAL REPORT 2007 | USP
The accompanying notes form an integral part of this statement.
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1 Government Contributions General Special 2007 2006

Grant Grant Total Total

$ $ $ $

Cook Islands 286,228 69,893 356,121 372,071 

Fiji 24,555,671 14,091,720 38,647,391 36,473,928 

Kiribati 1,534,313 161,419 1,695,732 1,682,954 

Marshall Islands 119,816 89,862 209,678 196,239 

Nauru 103,175 43,267 146,442 95,765 

Niue 49,924 51,588 101,512 128,735 

Samoa 1,281,368 880,316 2,161,684 2,259,114 

Solomon Islands 2,962,124 94,855 3,056,979 2,558,968 

Tokelau 29,954 29,954 59,908 51,808 

Tonga 1,028,423 178,060 1,206,483 1,053,417 

Tuvalu 369,433 56,580 426,013 398,760 

Vanuatu 961,858 893,629 1,855,487 1,825,816 

33,282,287 16,641,143 49,923,430 47,097,575 

2 Student Tuition Fees 2007 2006

$ $

Regional Students 11,240,344 11,565,828 

International Students 338,555 384,240 

11,578,899 11,950,068 

Distance & Flexible Learning 6,834,352 6,532,013 

18,413,251 18,482,081 

College of Foundation Studies 2,368,444 3,866,495 

Masters of Business 

Administration
1,603,917 1,075,861 

Others 1,593,830 2,243,857 

23,979,442 25,668,294 

3 Aid & Donations 2007 2006

$ $

Australian Aid 8,949,243 5,557,757 

New Zealand Aid 6,785,621 6,504,606 

European Union Aid 4,667,581 4,053,964 

IAS & Other Institute Projects 1,650,211 1,887,772 

Republic of Marshall Islands 1,187,917 467,481 

Others 1,091,931 1,928,352 

24,332,504 20,399,932 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2007 

ANNUAL REPORT 2007 | USP
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4 Trading Units 2007 2007 2006 2006

$ $ $ $

Book Centre 10,927,548 10,901,785 

Catering Services

Laucala 3,152,804 3,620,935 

Alafua 255,421 3,408,225 285,291 3,906,226 

Residential Services
Laucala 1,973,071 2,593,472 
Emalus 728,981 932,807 
Alafua 186,577 2,888,629 227,280 3,753,559 

Gym & Community Recreation Centre 526,923 342,112 

Others 333,686 257,344 

18,085,011 19,161,026 

5 Other Income 2007 2006

$ $

Miscellaneous Student Activities 1,554,964 1,745,446 

Course Material Sales 2,456,551 1,904,415 

Department Trading 1,778,983 1,784,845 

Consultancy Income 1,143,126 771,648 

Laboratory Income 593,734 584,462 

Other Income 3,108,821 5,437,558 

10,636,179 12,228,374 

6 Release of Deferred Revenue 2007 2007 2006 2006

$ $ $ $

Depreciation Charge for the Year 4,238,067 4,596,627 
Less: Charge on items aquired
through loans or finance leases (344,379) (332,612)

Release of Deferred Revenue - Depreciation 3,893,688 4,264,015 

Fixed Asset Additions for the Year (1,921,860) (2,403,614)
Less: Items aquired through loans
or finance leases 58,838  -   

Increase in Deferred Revenue - Additions (1,863,022) (2,403,614)

Net Transfer 2,030,666 1,860,401 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2007 

ANNUAL REPORT 2007 | USP
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7 Staff Costs 2007 2006

$ $

Academic & Comparable staff 46,400,440 45,602,188 
Intermediate & Junior staff 10,871,331 11,411,959 
Permanent Hourly Paid staff 7,105,448 7,935,724 

Accrual for Leave Entitlements 344,662 (576,620)

Total Staff Costs 64,721,881 64,373,251 

Staff Numbers by category as at 31 

December:

Academic & Comparable staff 533 588 

Intermediate & Junior staff (excl. regional staff 

other than Alafua & Emalus)

467 510 

Permanent Hourly Paid staff (excl. regional 

staff other than Alafua & Emalus)

369 469 

Total Staff Numbers 1,369 1,567 

Compensation of key management 
personnel:

2007 2006

(To 30-Apr-07) (From 1-May-07)

Former VC Acting VC Others Former VC Others
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Short-term employee benefits 136 206 2,142 275 2,482 
Post-employment pension 10 21 195 27 214 
Termination benefits 89  -   -   -   -  

Total compensation paid 235 227 2,337 302 2,696 

Taxable Emoluments for higher paid staff
2007 2006

Number Number

$100,000 - $119,999 28 25 

$120,000 - $139,999 12 15 

$140,000 - $159,999 8 6 

$160,000 - $179,999 6  -  

$180,000 - $199,999 1 1 

$200,000 - $219,999  -  6 

$220,000 - $239,999 3 3 

$240,000 - $259,999 3 1 

$260,000 - $279,999  -  1 

$280,000 - $299,999  -   -  

>$300,000 1 1 

62 59 
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8 OPERATING COSTS 2007 2006
$ $

Items of Expenditure totalling more than $1m
Cost of Sales 9,930,911 10,950,597 
Travel-Related Expenses 4,206,489 5,696,748 
Student-Related Expenses 4,132,626 2,588,701 
Grounds & Maintenance 3,627,374 3,294,814 
Consultancy Expenses 2,963,139 3,147,539 
Non-Capitalisable Equipment 2,923,842 3,915,271 
Utilities 2,905,348 2,887,738 
Telecommunications 2,699,337 3,038,101 
PRIDE In-Country Expenses 2,039,346 167,502 
Library Books 1,991,652 2,194,412 
Staff Recruitment & Passages 1,936,796 2,279,564 
Printing & Stationery 1,726,223 1,794,818 
Insurance Premiums 1,612,404 1,451,515 
Computer Software & Hardware 1,362,224 955,413 
Workshop Expenses 1,041,223 1,660,446 
Teaching Materials 1,038,421 1,025,062 

Sub-Total 46,137,355 47,048,241 

Other Items of Expenditure 13,848,536 14,007,031 

Fees paid to auditors:
External audit 29,060 35,584 
Internal audit 167,713 270,268 
Other services 23,381 17,030 
Projects 50,455 72,807 

Honorarium (Chair; V Chair - Council) 21,000 21,000 

Bad Debts written off 69,962  -  

Total Operating Costs 60,347,462 61,471,961 

9 INVENTORIES Goods & Academic Catering & Total
Publications Gowns Maintenance Domestic

$ $ $ $ $

Balance b/f at 1 January 2006 5,111,988 470,602 255,449 64,208 5,902,247 
Additions 9,071,563 521,642 393,402 2,108,372 12,094,979 
Expensed (9,900,056) (528,503) (423,025) (2,091,763) (12,943,347)
Write down in value (300,199) (20,000) (320,199)

Cost or Valuation at 31 December 2006 3,983,296 463,741 205,826 80,817 4,733,680 

Balance b/f at 1 January 2007 3,983,296 463,741 205,826 80,817 4,733,680 
Additions 8,718,828 547,626 434,864 1,631,301 11,332,619 
Expensed (7,907,852) (505,067) (444,192) (1,642,229) (10,499,340)
Write down in value (320,787) (320,787)

Cost or Valuation at 31 December 2007 4,473,485 506,300 196,498 69,889 5,246,172 

Analysis of Value of Inventories 2007 2006
$ $

Total cost of inventories 6,450,352 5,712,091 
Less: Unrealised profit (863,700) (644,000)
Less: Provision for obsolescence (340,480) (334,411)

Cost or Valuation at 31 December 5,246,172 4,733,680 

Analysis of Goods & Publications: 2007 2006
$ $

Book Centre - Inventory 2,151,983 1,971,281 
Book Centre - Goods in Transit 555,345 605,351 
Regional Campuses - Books 823,039 569,596 
Regional Campuses - Course Materials 372,561 230,361 
Institute of Pacific Studies 701,335 731,318 
Institute of Education 102,703 102,800 

4,706,966 4,210,707 

Less: Provision for Obsolescence (233,481) (227,411)

4,473,485 3,983,296 
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10 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE Note 2007 2006
$ $

Government Contributions 10a 1,442,796 1,091,215 
Trade 10b 727,678 673,029 
Students 10c 5,693,844 7,280,717 
Staff 10d 99,250 112,932 
Other 10e 6,440,759 2,330,036 

14,404,327 11,487,929 

Less: Provision for Doubtful Debts 10f (1,436,393) (1,348,994)
12,967,934 10,138,935 

10a Contributions due from Governments: $ $

Cook Islands 56,098  -   
Fiji 759,772 309,120 
Kiribati  -    -   
Marshall Islands 201,201 131,966 
Nauru 249,263 188,655 
Niue 176,462 214,894 
Samoa  -    -   
Solomon Islands  -   246,580 
Tokelau  -    -   
Tonga  -    -   
Tuvalu  -    -   
Vanuatu  -    -   

1,442,796 1,091,215 

Ageing of Government Contributions due:
Less than 1 Year Old 1,177,345 832,816 
Between 1 & 2 Years Old 246,730 185,290 
Between 2 & 3 Years Old 18,721 73,109 
More than 3 Years Old  -    -   

1,442,796 1,091,215 

Notes

The Accounts Receivable figure for 2006 has been re-stated to take into account the over-charging of member countries in that year.

Any overpayments by member countries are classified as creditors

10b Trade Debtors $ $

Laucala Campus & Book Centre 530,416 542,658 
Emalus  Campus & Book Centre 197,262 130,371 

727,678 673,029 

Less: Provision for Doubtful Debts (96,586) (204,457)
631,092 468,572 

Ageing of Trade Debtors due:
Less than 1 Year Old 687,214 446,464 
Between 1 & 2 Years Old 40,464 226,565 
Between 2 & 3 Years Old  -    -   
More than 3 Years Old  -    -   

727,678 673,029 

10c Student Debtors $ $

Laucala 2,281,491 3,186,849 
Alafua 62,184 154,236 
Emalus 1,769,012 1,911,924 
Other Regional Campuses 1,581,157 2,027,708 

5,693,844 7,280,717 

Less: Provision for Doubtful Debts (1,241,463) (1,133,933)
4,452,381 6,146,784 

Ageing of Student Debtors due:
Less than 1 Year Old 1,974,103 3,984,711 
Between 1 & 2 Years Old 2,231,153 1,904,227 
Between 2 & 3 Years Old 901,850 731,177 
More than 3 Years Old 586,738 660,602 

5,693,844 7,280,717 
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2007 2006
10d Staff Debtors $ $

Laucala 98,344 88,774 

Alafua  -   19,962 

Emalus 906 4,196 

99,250 112,932 

Less: Provision for Doubtful Debts (98,344) (10,604)

906 102,328 

Ageing of Staff Debtors due:

Less than 1 Year Old 906 87,970 

Between 1 & 2 Years Old 98,344 5,000 

Between 2 & 3 Years Old  -    -   

More than 3 Years Old  -   19,962 

99,250 112,932 

10e Other Debtors $ $

Aid Agencies 5,078,729 1,460,987 

VAT Receivable 1,115,965 717,279 

Interest Receivable 134,445 91,540 

Other Debtors 111,620 60,230 

6,440,759 2,330,036 

Ageing of Other Debtors due:

Less than 1 Year Old 4,957,264 1,895,446 

Between 1 & 2 Years Old 867,416 370,130 

Between 2 & 3 Years Old 614,201 35,000 

More than 3 Years Old 1,878 29,460 

6,440,759 2,330,036 

10f Movement in Provision for Doubtful Debts

Balance at 1 January 1,348,994 1,489,650 

Debts written off in the year (413,450) (140,656)

Additional provision made in the year 500,849  -   

1,436,393 1,348,994 

11 PREPAYMENTS 2007 2006

$ $

Prepayments - Laucala 193,654 790,479 

Prepayments - Alafua 28,837 33,427 

Prepayments - Emalus 7,482 36,737 

Prepayments - Book Centre 20,315 42,969 

250,288 903,612 
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12 CASH & CASH EQUIVALENTS 2007 2006

$ $

Term Deposits 12,377,533 17,793,644 

Current Accounts 8,894,740 10,399,606 

Cash on hand & petty cash 22,031 21,661 

21,294,304 28,214,911 

Bank Overdraft (3,459,692) (142,419)

17,834,612 28,072,492 

Where held:

In Fiji

Term Deposits 11,808,134 14,408,046 

Current Accounts (net of bank overdrafts) 589,772 5,372,090 

Cash on hand & petty cash 22,031 21,661 

12,419,937 19,801,797 

With Other Regional Banks

Term Deposits 133,451 2,215,584 

Current Accounts (net of bank overdrafts) 2,699,688 2,951,620 

2,833,139 5,167,204 

In Other Overseas Accounts

Term Deposits 435,948 1,170,014 

Current Accounts (net of bank overdrafts) 2,145,588 1,933,477 

2,581,536 3,103,491 

Comprising of:

University Funds 11,449,009 21,837,472 

Endowment Funds - General 206,146 195,087 

Endowment Funds - Specific 6,179,457 6,039,933 

17,834,612 28,072,492 
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13 RECONCILIATION OF NET CASH FROM 
OPERATING ACTIVITIES TO INCOME & 
EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT

2007 2006
$ $

Surplus/(Deficit) - Income & Expenditure Account (2,321,492) (5,140,801)

Adjustments to Income & Expenditure:
Release of Deferred Revenue (2,030,666) (1,860,401)
Interest Income (973,419) (1,240,132)
Proceeds from Sale of Fixed Assets (71,798) (73,094)
Depreciation 4,238,067 4,596,626 
Provision for Doubtful Debts 500,849  -  
Write down in Value of Inventories 225,769 320,199 
Write down in Value of Fixed Assets 1,026,809  -  
Write down in Value of Investments 300,100  -  
Net Foreign Currency Gain/Loss 857,899 144,477 
Loss on Loan - USPSL  -  700,000 
Loss on Discontinued Operations - CIL  -  1,099,639 

Operating  Surplus/(Deficit) 1,752,118 (1,453,487)

(Increase)/Decrease in Inventories (738,261) 848,368 
(Increase)/Decrease in Accounts Receivable (3,239,315) (3,872,808)
(Increase)/Decrease in Prepayments 653,324 86,889 
Increase/(Decrease) in Long-Term Creditors (102,840) (495,536)
Increase/(Decrease) in Short-Term Creditors (7,702,197) (3,070,740)
Less: Movement in Finance Lease Creditors 341,079 247,768 

Net Cash Used in Operating  Activities (9,036,092) (7,709,546)

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

 Equipment 
&

 Vehicles & Work In

Description Property Furniture Vessels Progress Total
$ $ $ $ $

Cost or Valuation

Deemed Gross Cost at 1 January 2007 137,701,779 7,620,745 1,034,664  1,625,885 147,983,073 

Additions  592,502  755,869  204,916  368,572 1,921,859 

Disposals  -    -    (71,798)  (1,026,809)  (1,098,607)

Transfers  194,464  -    -    (194,464)  -   

Deemed Gross Cost at 31 December 2007 138,488,745 8,376,614 1,167,782  773,184 148,806,325 

Accumulated Depreciation  
 

Deemed Accumulated Depreciation at 1 January 2007  2,289,215  2,244,841  62,570  -    4,596,626 

Charge for the year  2,289,215  1,776,429  172,423  -    4,238,067 

Adjustment on disposals  -    -    (69,785)  -    (69,785)

Deemed Accumulated Depreciation at 31 Dec.2007 4,578,430 4,021,270 165,208  -   8,764,908 

Deemed Cost at 31 December 2007 133,910,315 4,355,344 1,002,574  773,184 140,041,417 

Deemed Cost at 31 December 2006 135,412,564 5,375,904 972,094  1,625,885 143,386,447 
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14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT  (continued)

Assets under finance lease
The carrying amount of tangible fixed assets include an amount of $626,777 (2006: $828,154) in respect of assets held under finance lease 

reported under the equipment category relating to PABX equipment. The depreciation charge for the year was $260,215 (2006: $248,446). 

Work in Progress
Work in Progress relates to costs for property-related projects where the project has not been completed. The costs will be capitalised once 

all major items of expenditure, other than the payment of retention monies, have been incurred.

At 31 December 2006 work in progress included $1,026,809 that the University had incurred in costs on a project to construct new student 

dormitories. This project was suspended in late November 2006 and had not re-commenced by 31 December 2007. Therefore the carrying 

value of the work in progress for this project was written down at the end of the year.

Carrying Value of Work in Progress Projects at 31 December 2007 $

Refurbishment - Admin Building 335,251 
Emalus Campus - Staff Office 292,825 
Emalus Campus - ITS Complex Expansion 101,278 
MBA Renovations - Statham Campus 43,830 

773,184 

Reconciliation of fixed assets to related accounts $

Carrying amount of property plant and equipment at 31 December 2007 140,041,417 

This is represented by: $

Deferred Revenue 134,006,600 

Carrying amount of equipment acquired via finance leases:  PABX telephone system 626,777 

Carrying amount of properties acquired directly or through loans: Statham Street 

Campus
4,319,160 

Services 

Complex
146,880 

Residential 

Block
942,000 

140,041,417 

15 INVESTMENTS 2007 2006

$ $

Clarendon Investments Limited  -  100 
USP Solutions Limited  -  300,000 

 -  300,100 

In 2006, the University owned 100% of the issued share capital of Clarendon Investments Limited, a company incorporated in Fiji in 2001. On 

the 23rd January 2007, the shareholders of the company passed a special resolution agreeing that the company be placed under voluntary 

liquidation.

In 2006, the University owned 100% of the issued share capital of USP Solutions Limited. On the 6th of February 2007, the shareholders of 

the company passed a special resolution agreeing that the company be placed under voluntary liquidation.

16 FINANCING FACILITIES

The University has access to overdraft facilities of $5,925,000 (2006: $5.925m) with various banks across the region for which all conditions 

precedent have been met. As at 31 December 2007, $3,459,692 (2006: $142,419) was utilised.

Cash at bank and in hand earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. The fair value of cash and cash equivalents as at 

31 December 2007 is $21,294,304 (2006: $28,214,911) which includes endowment assets of $6,385,603 (2006: $6,235,020). 
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17 CREDITORS & ACCRUALS 2007 2006

$ $

Trade Creditors 9,080,844 9,277,140 

Student Creditors 155,963 63,287 

Aid in Advance  -   4,744,396 

Overpayments by Member Countries 1,486,609 624,125 

Student Fees Received in Advance 49,781 19,687 

Payroll Creditors 2,117,155 5,026,389 

Accrual for Leave entitlement 3,053,632 2,708,972 

Obligations under Finance Leases 257,298 247,769 

Other Creditors & Accruals 113,027 340,376 

16,314,309 23,052,141 

18 COMMITMENTS 2007 2006

$ $

(a) Finance lease commitments

The commitment in respect of leased assets are as follows:

Not later than one year 323,755 288,423 

Later than one year and not later than two years 323,752 288,423 

Later than two years and not later than five years 126,963 312,460 

Minimum lease payments 774,470 889,306 

Deduct future finance charges (103,827) (125,352)

Lease liability 670,643 763,954 

Analysed as:

Current liability 257,298 247,769 

Non-current liability 413,345 516,185 

670,643 763,954 

(b) Operating lease commitments

The commitment in respect of leased assets are as follows:

Expiring within one year  -   61,507 

Expiring within more than one year but less than two years  -   9,075 

Expiring within more than two years but less than five years  -    -   

 -   70,582 

In 2006 the University rented properties for staff housing on three year leases which were cancellable with one month’s notice.
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19 TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTY 2007 2006
 $  $ 

Clarendon Investments Limited
Sales made to the University  -    21,479 
Debt forgiven by the University  -    1,099,639 

USP Solutions Limited
Purchase of assets  -    44,500 
Payroll and management services recharged  -    325,255 
Sales made to the University  -    346,800 

Stepstone Pacific Limited
Sales made to the University - ITS management contract  -    150,000 
Advances received from the University  -    187,500 
Repayments made for advances received  -    (137,500)
 Write off of outstanding advance  (50,000)  -   

All transactions between the University and related entities were on an arm’s length basis.

20 CONTINGENT ASSET & LIABILITIES 2007 2006
 $  $ 

As at 31 December, the University’s contingent liabilities are estimated to be:

Fiji Electricity Authority - guarantees given  158,857  158,857 
EDF Programme Management Unit - guarantees given  223,744  223,744 
VAT on grants received from Government  39,802,087  35,573,613 

 40,184,688  35,956,214 

Contingent Assets  39,802,087  35,573,613 

The Fiji Islands Revenue Customs Authority advised in a letter dated June 2007 that the University might be liable to pay VAT on contributions 

received from the Government of Fiji since 1992. There has been no further progress since July 2007, nor any formal assessment issued by FIRCA. 

Accordingly, no provision for liability has been made in the financial  statements. 

The University claims Government grants on a VAT exclusive basis. In the event that the tax liability is considered probable, the University would 

make a claim for the shorfall inpayment of grant and recognise a receivable amount to the same value as the potential tax liability.

There are various legal claims and trade disputes pending against the University at the balance sheet date. The University considers these claims, 

arising in the normal course of business,  to be immaterial and mostly spurious. No amounts have been provided in relation to any of these matters.

21 INSURANCE

The University has taken cover for combined material damage and business interruption at a replacement value of $308,567,612. 
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